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New York, October 29th, ,,lfl3
Yj

Indicted for attemoted extortion- -
-- 's'i

: Indictment filed August 28th, 1913.
.. - --if-

A p pvG;:;a ,r. a h c e a: ..sSys.

i"J "Vi

For.. People: GEORGE 2. MEDALIE, ESQ. , A0 distant Districts
' 1

.T r.SMBrC; -

PoriDef;endit:
--i SB- -

CHARLES KIEFER, ESQ. jr. .- .- r t

4fi
:

--vis
A Jury is duly empaneled and sworn.

' rJ "
'

-

,?.Mr.Medalie opens to the Jury in behalf of the People

VI T 0; --ii I R E N D I, called as a witness in behalf of ,the

People, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows: (Throui

Official Interpreter Vilamena):

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MED ALIE:
'.' v '.

Q Wiat is your, address?. A 313 and 315 East JL12th street.
Q Are you the woner of a drug store at 314 East 112th . street?

A Yes, sir.
Q This drugstore, that you own is in the county, of Jew t:

nr?
Y o rk ? A; Ye s , si-xTv-

i .- -
!?

,J- - ' ?--- i i' - .7
a v..-V- i 4-C'uS-

WJS&'iv.vV-

5 :. r- -jj --- - t..-"'.siia- s

MTHEIi
A Yes,' siT. f 3?

r.
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Q Hew long hre you kno in him? A I awv-h-i with another'.
boy walk In the street, there all the time; one tie he caMe

in ray drug store to buy some dooaine, and I. wouldn't giTe It to

him. .:'''' Vv.
0

H, when was that? A .Before I received those letters , i$
.''.'' i .'

j. MR. KIEFER: I move to strike that but asnb t respoh- -
vi

' ' '' ' '
.-

-

' .''
.

:. '': .

'
:

. ." : ' -

sive. , ,' ''.-- ' ; . .

MR. MEDALIE: It is responsive, because I am nbw coming

to this date on which he received the letters. .

THE COURT: "it is only a question of the order of
Jv

proof. The District Attorney will not refer to the letters .

unless he .can connect them with this defendant.

. MR. MEDALIE: Exactly, your Honor.'

MR. KIEFER: I an not going into that at the present

time, if your Honor please.

THE COURT: I will overrule the objection and I will

deny the motion to strike it out, and you have an exce-

ption. I ruled on the reference to the letters.
MR. KIEFER: I simply made a technical objection FUj

that it is not responsive, inasmuch as he answered about

cocaine.'.' .
.

THE COURT: Strike out the reference to cocaine.

MR. KIEFER: Very well, thank you.

,THE COURT: Ab I understand it now, you make no ob

jection to the last" answer?
---- .. ..'"".
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UM
and an envelope attached tog that, addressed to Vito Mirendi,

m 314 East 112th street; I ask youT'whether you ever saw that
letter and the envelope? P-lea-se look at it. A Yes, uir, when- -

I received it,
Q The envelope is postmarked July 10th of this year. Did',' '$$M&Lf '

" TIM -

you receive the letter enclosed in that envelope, on tor about' "

4 ?1I11Hb

that date? A Yes, sir.
MR. MEDALIE: I ask that the letter be marked Exhibit

v .mil

1 fo r identification and the envelope 1-- A.

MR. KIEFER: I underBt end that my objections are noted,,
and that they will be stricken out unless noted.

THE COURT: I did not know that you made any objection.

MR. KIEPER: Your Honor at first said that, but I
will make an objection now to the letters and ask that I
can renew the motion to strike out if not connected.

THE COURT: If these letters are not connected with --

the'K def aidant, the case will'be dismissed I suppose

the District Attorney understands that ruling.
MR. MEDALIE:, Certainly, your Honor, that is what we

claim.

THE COURT: That is the law. .1 am allowing the Di-

strict Attorney to. refer to these letters and to prove thea
r on his statement that'.he will connect them with the de- -

fendant, an'd unless he does that, as I understand it, his 1

if ,

3H r
' h ,-

-

m .5 i:
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MR; MEDALIE: While there is other evidence I em

. willing, to abide by that 'ruling, in spite of the other
, if 4

. imkevidence, r

. .

; ':
' '

.'' .' " .?..f If !

THE COURT: Of course I do not mean that youmust' ?fc

. proved that he actually wrote than, but I mean. tha,t you must
K

' '' ' 'i i '

connect him with them in sane way by proper evidence.

MR. MEDAIIE: I am quite sure that I shall be able to
'fVi

do that. -

THE COURT:' Otherwise the letters have no bearing'".--
'

'
--"Ml

in the case.
--

..MR-. MEDALIE: Certainly not.. .
.

.

'
. THE COURT: Unless they can be traced to him. Mr.

Kiefer objects to the introduction- - of the letters and I

overrule his objection and make that statement and he

excepts to the ruling.

MR..KIEFER: I accept the ruling of the Court that

the case falls unless they connect the defendant with the
. J ftletters. --

. fri .

THE COURT : In other wo rds , y.ou approve of th e posi--
'

tion taken by the Court, and there is no objection.
.-

-
.

.MR. KIEFER: , I do, sir. '' "

(Received in evidence and marked respectively People o , ,

' ''
'. Exhl; 1 and 1-- A.) f .

i--

BY MR; MEDALIE: '.,' '; , . -- i

-- Ill" 4 I show you another letter, $irporting to be- - written An



w '4- -

A H 'XWjP&'V- .,.

Italian, witk an envelojfe attaehe to it, peat Marked July litk, laaV
.fsge. ff

,..

l
: v - i

and I &ek you whether you received this letter in thin envelajpe

on or about the 18th of July? Please look at them? A Tea, air.

14
MR. MEDALIE: I ask that' that letter'be marked People a

.Exhibit Z for identification, and the envelope People's Exhibit,
2-- A' for identification.

' J!

(Harked respectively in evidence People's Exhibit's
2 and 2--A. )

$ I show you another letter purporting to be written in

Italian, and an envelope attached to it, bearing the post
7

mark, July 21st of this year, and I ask you whether you re--

veived through the mails this letter in this envelope on 9
i

about that date? A Yes, sir. . v I:'

MR. MEDAIIE: I ask that the letter be marked People' s

Exhibit 3 for identification, and the envelope Exhibit 3-- A.

. (Marked in evidence People's Exhibit 3 and 3-- A for

.identification respectively.)'

EmQ -- I show you another letter purporting to be written in

Italian, with an envelope addressed to you, bearing the post

mark July 31st of this year, and I ask you whether you received
4

xnis xeimer in wis envexope wirouen j,ao maixsails ononror.uc auuuo
4 --Os 'AT7

that date? A Yes, sir. '
gSS3-

-

--n
1 MR. MEDALIE: I ask that the letter be markedMPeople' s

; .
' il

Exhibit 4 for identification and the envelope People' s ,f

Exhibit 4-- A for identification.- -

?fflB

(Marked in evidence People's Exh'ibit 4 end 4-- A for
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Hfip '-- '
Q

, I aliojw you another letter purporting to "be written inr .' -- V

Italian, and "an envelope attached to it, addressed to you,
&

.

"
' "

containing the post mark August 3rd, 19i3y and I ask you whether -
' .:.'.' .,"',;.: .- -.'

you received this letter in this envelope through the mails on .

or about . that, date? .

A Yea.
1 sir- -- - .

' C

. --
. . n . ; . '. tv: ...

w-- MR. MEDAIIE: I ask that, that letter be marked People sJ

Exhibit 6 for identification and the envelope People's
,

Exhibit 5-- A for identification. .
'

(Marked People's Exhibits 5 an d 5-- A for identifioa- -

tion, respectively.) r

(fc'T show you another letter, purporting to be written in
S-.'- -

qItalian, attached to an envelope addressed to you, containing u

the post mark of August 6th, 1913, amd I ask whether you re--

ceived this letter in this envelope through the mails on vor

mt rauuuu biiuv uaiei a j-c- u, an, f

im. MEDATTEi I nV that thmr be mnrkert for identifier

flf; cation People ' s Exhibit' 6 an d 6-- A for identification. f CM
(Marked for identification People's Exhibit 6 and-- 6

respectively.) s

4
MR. MEDALIE: I underst end, your Honor, that it is

, - .

conceded by the. defense that the, typewritten sheet at-

tached to each of these letters Exhibit s 1 to 6 for

identification inclusive, correctly translates the at- -
.''. .

.
.

; .-- - -

tached letter in Italian. I now ask that these sheets
v

oontainln'g the translation be marked for ldentlf lcatlo
&irir li&.V 1
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(The translation sheets are marked for identification
People's Exhibits 1--B to 6-- B respectively.)

to,, Q How long before youa free elved the first letter, Peoplt's
.

1 ' j M3m
I - v ; wsw

Exhibit!! for identification, did you first see this defendant? -- & !sB
'naaaiH

m A About two months before. .
'

-- ".'. ...
O Bpfnrp vnn rpno( vnrl .V p --f irn. Tp .. "KVrh....1 "h 1 t. 1 ci fV aft.flrj ftl'Jffl

r.-
- Tsrsmm " :.--""- tf - - '- -- - - -- . - wx- - , --., fc,.- -. .w- -.

'JPlHHL
you first saw the defendant, did you see him? A' I saw him

t

pass in the front of me with other two persons.
""

" ' (I But you did no t speak to him at 'that time? A No, sir. '"Si
Q Then, did you first speak to the defendant after -- the re

s
.-

-.

ceipt of these letters? A After receiving the letter. I never
Mi,--.- ' '

spoke to hirai '." ", I

Q When di.d the defendant speak to you? A On the morning of

ithe 4th day of August he came toftr drug store,

Q At that time you had air eadyf received the,five letters,
'-

-
.--

.-''.- ..''' ' .''''"
People1 s .Bchib'its for iden tifioation 1 to 5? A Yes, sir,

Q But youhad not yet received the last letter? A NOj sir.
Q What conversation did he have with you at that time in

V

the drug store? A I received a telephone message before this

def en dant come at my store

THE INTERPRETER: nd the witness states wbat the

telephone is.
8.!--- .

iwfc Q, Won't you please state what was said to .you over the:

flephone?
.';

;'
X J -- ..

MR . KIEFER : I o bj ect to that
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'

'?,?.,j
'

iKJ?nSOT'SSTrZ."

,
Kf??rW.

i.mj
iuiSCSF.,? T

.,

. MWDALIB: My theAry, in thl eiM ! ceeerte4;T. y r.- - --r-
"

--"jftjY5'
? v

j-- 1

J'
-- i

't . . . - -- . . f. - - .. i . ' - . . - ,

action on the part of the defendant and certain unknown

persons. '11 l

THE COURT: Well, I know, but you have to connect- -

' ;Sthe defendant tyi-t-h the telephone conversation.

i&t
"4,

' MR. MEDAIIE: 'This telephpMgssaee, if it refers
Skr

to the very acts that were done "by this defendant, regard-- .;

lesB of who tfeperoon was who telejgAd, would ewe IV--21- M

act of a co-conspir- ator, even though he is unknown to the

prosecution.

MR,. KEEFER; That wo uld "be inadmissible any how,
I

Judge' oil1, that ground, --a
-- j

.

THE COURT: I-wi- ll sustain the objection at this time.
1 Ml" BY THE COURT:

Q, You had a talk over the telephone? A Yes, sir.
BY MR. MEDAIIE:

Q, Did the defendant, then come to see you?

' MR. FJEFER: I object to the leading question by EM
" the District Attorney.

r .
'-

-

Objection overruled. Exception.

A Yes, sir.
Q, What did the defendant say to you? A This defendant

came in my drug store and when 'he came in me tipped me on the
i ' '

shoulder (the witness , indicating by placing his right-han- d
!

up iso Mb left .shUtlder) , andhe said to me, "I- - am one of those'

black hand, I come up :here to Jdemand- - the money from you.. " I
Cj

&WH3bb



PVfl?V & w&mmmmwmwikMmLWsmmMHum k

..

v ttv
I ' " " l "

-- -ft

I flCTTr--
x

r? ..Nf , ,r yagw zgJgBaBcnaMai HHi'k?-f'- i -
-- f" "- - rv v y-Pws-

mi

f

li. te hiat, "I kaytn't ot ariy.Mney, and he laid to me, I m
P: atitfied at this time to get only $25",. and then I said to

the defendant! "I haven't got any money, "but I will call doven

ay wife and see whatever Jewelry she has, I will ask her to

go and pawn that Jewelry, raise up whatever money she could
'

get from it and give it to you," T sent then for my wife and
.

" ' "

instructed her what to do '...
Q, Was the defendant --present at the time, you spoke to your

Jaw!!! -

wife? A No, he was not-ihere- .

Q Did the defendant go away? A He went away, and in going

away says to me, "If the money will be ready for four o'clock,

iircillbe all right). '

V Q Did he say when he .would xeturn? A ';

5ea$v sir.-- -

sl&SS-t- -

Q What time did he say? A He would he hack about four o'clock,
.''. .

Q What time did the defendant call on you? A The .first
time he came in ray drug store about half past seven in the

',.'' .
'

morning.

Q Is that the day that you have just told us about? A Yea,

ghe day that I said - I don't remember exactly if.it was Mon raday or. Tuesday.

BY THE COURT: '
,;

Q What time onthat day did he come there?

MRMEDALIE: He Just said half nast seven, your

Honor, in the morning.
, ,?J!

BY MR. MEDALIE: ' ,.

--
. j Q, ow soon after the defendant: oam, did you talk to any
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fr8i oyer th tcltphb&e A About twwity-fo- ur hours fcfr. sHIBBM fwrT

r
5F

Q Will you please atat e what converaation you had oxer the

telephone? "s

THE COURT: You have not connected that with the de-fend- ant.

yet, Mr. Medalie.
..-J-

BlM

MR, MEDAXIE: What occurred here I claim 1b the result
of something that happened over the telephone,

THE COURT: I know, hut you will have to show that.
MR. MEDAI.IE: I c an show it by showing the telephone

i

conversation, that the telephone conversation was to the
'j

effect that certain things would happen, and that they did
-

L?"
6f. happen.

THE COURT: Did 'the defendant make any reference to

them in any way?- -

THE WITNESS: No, sir. Jf

Uf MR. MEDALIE: Your Honor, if tn'iL telephone conver-satio- n

refers to anything concerning the obtaining of

money, and the defendant spoke to the complaining witness

on that morning about the obtaining of money, then I take iLH ..Lfel ..ifl

it that telephone conversation is admissible.

THE COURT: Well, let him tell the Interpreter the

conversation and then I will hear it before 1 decide
!

whether I will let itrgo to the jury, or not.
.'

(The Interpreter communicates the answer to the Court.)
irTHE COURT: I will allow the answer.

MR. EEEFER: ,1 want to have it put on the record

that the witness
iftJin th e beginning said to the Interpreter
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tkt tae M 4iMt Aid not refer to any telephone ooYeratiwi'
-

with him at all; that is, as I have it here
THE COURT: Yea, he said that. I asked him that

question, but having heard the conversation from. the

Interpreter I rule that it is admissible, in view of the

other testimony of this witness.

Q What was said over the telephone the day before? A They ' -- s. f

.?t. rS
S? S'tPW

o ailed me first 6n the telephone names, called me "Spy", "Dirty ", itf

and all other kind of names that you could imagine. They says

to me Vlf
t
in twenty-fo- ur hours you will" not send us the money, .

wit

" give the money to the man that will tap you on the shoulder,

we will kill you, we will stab you to death.
Hfcfyii i

.
..I 1 lKf 1 v I wl m k44Ft 4 1--h ll1vkM 4-4- " 4 MVJ fl I 3HHIilKpiC X

i.v
then asked through the telephone who should I give the money

- ' '
,

to. He said, "You will give the money to the man we will send
t

to you that will touch you on the shoulder."

Q s that the entire telephone conversation? A That's all.
Q And on the following day when the defendant called, 'he did

k'ta H
place" his hand on your shoulder x as you have testified?

MR. KIEFER: I object to all these leading questions.

Objection overruled. Exception.

A Yes, sir.
MR. KIEFER: At this time I urge an objection to the

ii-- i

statement as given by the complaining witness in. regard

to the telephone message, and ask that it be stricken '

from the record.
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f.vsi vv. Hot! or denied.,. Exception.
' ,:.'.. F ''..''' ... " ' '

.f.. ','" 1Q After' the telephone conversation aid before the def endant.
r

came toj your drug store and. placed his hand on your shoulder,

did you have a conversation with Acting" Captain
'

Jones of the
ii .- .-

-. '; -- . --V

'APolice Department?

THE COURT: Yea or no?

A Yea, sir, m
:'Mm

Q Did Captain Jones give you anything? A Yes, sir.
Q at did he give you? A $11 marked.

Q, What were the denominations of the bills that he gave

'you? A One dollar bills.
Q I show you eleven one dollar bills, and I ask you whether

IP- -
Fj thtlse were the eleven one dollar bills(that Captain Jones gave

you? A. Yes, sir, those are the bills.
:Q, By what mark are you' able, to identify those bills? A It

is "D" marked on the bills.J;- -

IsttsS..

(I The letter P marked under the big "1? on each bill? A

Yes, sir. ". ... ;

MR. MEDA&IE: The exhibits being money, I suppose

there is ho necessity for marking then for identification?
THE COURT: You had better have than marked.

. MR. MEDAUE: I. ask that they be marked People1 a

Exhibit 7 to 17 inclusive-- , for identification.
.

; .:. x. :'.-- .

(Marked for identification PeoplesJExhibits 7 to 17 j
Si:-- '

RWK both inclusive.) fc

Q In the presence of Captain Jones were, the numbers copied
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- i :VjKS?JH ' ' rra t&M Till, aibit 7- - t 17s for laentlfloaiio? A 'Tti;
5Ura, - it '

air, the Captain marked the. .

BaBly-- f

HP" Q I show you a piece of paper containing certain numbers,

and I ask you whether those are the numbers written by Captatto

Jones in your presence, and copied correctly from these bills?
A Yes, the captain marked those numbers down there.

MR, MEDALIE: I ask that be marked Exhibit, 18, for ;---

-2

' v. ."; '.''.:'"'.'i identification, V- -
:

, (Marked for identification People's Exhibit 18.)'
Q Did you after the vis it of the defendant to your place of

business at half past seven that morning, speak to any member,'.' '..'.'of the Police Department that day? C

THE COURT: Yes, qrno?
A ' Yes, . sir, .

Q With whom did you speak X without giving the converse--
y i

, tion? A Detective Cassetti-- , through the telephone.

Q After your conversation ;over the telephone with Detective

Cassetti, did you again see the defendant? A Yes, sir. r

EMQ At what time om that day? A At four o'clock. v '.BBIbV1IBBBBB '.liBB

t Q Where di d you. see him? A He came in my drug store.
t '''.."' '

.'.-- . : ..'.
" - .' '

.

j . Q What conversation, if any,- - did you have ith this de-

fendant? A "Are you all ready, for the money?", the def endant

says to me,

Q Was there any other person in your drug store? A No,' sir.
PJj..,,.TSsW.:'-- . Q Did you see any other membdrs of the Police Department

' "' '

? '.- -'
'-.-

:-

'

--

'

;'" ' '' '

.'-
- '

-- :;. '

near your drug store at that time?sA No, sir.
Q After the def aidant, asked you about the money what did ft



' ft.' .

f
HH i,? r M? A I as "Cm back abcmt five o'clock, &'

cause ay wife-- , she is not back yet.
Q Did the defendant return at fire clock? A Yes; sir.
Q In the meantime did any other persons arrive in or near "dHS

your premises? A Yes, sir, the detective was in the back of
my prescription counter in the' drug store, and at the time tied

fe"- -

this defendant entered,
'

my wife came right after him.'.".'' ' .. '"''".'.' '
- - ' "'

' '

Q Who was the detective who was in the back of your pre-

scription

:''fal
'

'

. ' ,

desk? A A young man.
s

' 4

f

Q Do you know whether or hot it was Detective Panavino? i

ml
A Yes, Panavino. '

$. Q Did you see any otheretectives outside of your drug

store in that time? A No sir.
q,' What conversation did you have with the defendant at the

- jjS -
time that Panavino was back of your prescription desk?

St .3

SUPllSfM? ' A" When this defendant came in he asked me, "Are you ready?1?

My wife, that was right behind me says, "Yes, we have got some

but not all of it, I only could get together these few dollars,
and showed him the 11. Theldef endant says, "Well those are

--, y--,- --.
.

.. FS5not enough, it is very little. " I said to him then "Come back
--

.

' ' '''''.'in a couple of days." "

J " .'.' '' :

' '

'. -

'

.
...: 4'-'-

-
:V :;

' .'' ";
.

MR. KIEFER: I object to ki at the wife , said.m 5
Sfc--

f

THE Co6rT: Objection overruledf "
:

'
.

2

' .....' i

MR.&EEEFER: This is a conversation between the 4
"

of.-.,- . - ' -
"

- I
T-r-- S

n defendant, and the wife. !

THE'COURT: Yes, any conversations in which the
.

' ri.
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KmUfUffl-AL- iissRwtaw?. J$SMMHnHiHHHH7lHi .2 T

,? jTk vdHnSPwS Hl iBiwt- - tek part ar be introiuoeA.

MR. KIEFER: Exception.

Mrs THE COURT: The defendant took part In the conver-sati- on

- at least, according to his testimony.

A (Witness continuing) I said then, "Gome back in a. couple
h

of .days and I will havethe balance of1tthe money for you,"

The fellow says, "Well, that is right. He took , the money and

he says to me, "Don't you think for a moment that that money is
a

coming to me; I have to give that money --to a man named Nick

Morelli." Then I said tb him, "It is none of my business to
"4

whom you give this money!; ' I only wish that I don't receive any
1

more let.ters from the black hands, because I am sick from the
P"

1
.

"?
- time that I received thistils letter"letter", an he said to me, you will

-- 4 Mw
.

iki.l not receive any more letters; you will not receive any more

letters from the black hand, provided that you will not say

m
fiat- - this to any one; otherwise you will suffer for it, that's all."
5 I

ii Q What money did you give him? A $11, h

Q Did you give him the $11 which you had received frem
-

Captain ,J!ones the day before - People's Exhibit 7 to 17 in-- Bi M B

elusive. f

Q What did th e . def en dant do with that money? A He put that
1 t
r

money in his pocket jLthe. witness indicating by inserting his

hand in his left tro'user's pocket. I

Q Who handed the money to the defendant? A, My. wife.

Q In your presence? A Yes, sir. ,
- f

Q After the defendant put the money in his pocket, what- -
16

, happened? A The detective come right out and grabbed hold of,
--s



wmwiwwihh r(fV!;1;' iv -- .':" sv;c(vijffltfM , ,.
kirn fr the Baek of his dollar and .says to him, you are" under'

arrest. Then he says to jae, "Ah! Spy! H - aJBT!.
C7v

'; .

5
(

Q;'. Who said that? A The defendant said to me, "Ah, you spy,

that la what yjDU did to me, huh! You wj.ll pay for it."
!K"K,:

Q What else happened? A Then my wife went out of the drug .

Btore; placed her handkerchief over the mouth '- ---' that was the

signal she had with the detective, and Detective Panavino and

Cassetti cane oyer and took hold of him.

Q Did the defendant do anything when the officers came?.
. '''' .'.'

A He resisted and one of the detectives was obliged to strike

him with the blackjack over the head.

MR. MEDALIE: I now offer in evidence People1 p j .

s

Exhib it. 1 to 17 inclusive, People1 s Exhibits 1-- A to 6-- A

inclusive, arid People's Exhibit's 1-- B to 6-- B inclusive.
' MR. KIEFER: I accepted your Honor1 s ruling, as made

.,

before these letters were of feced foridentification, that
--.. ' f .

;
"

.-

-
.

- '

if not connected with thetdefi endant they are stricken i71out and the case falls.
THE COURT: They are rebel vera.'" x s

(Received in evidence anlmarked People1 s Exhibits
.

':' ' t

1 to 17 inclusive, 1-- A to 6-- A inclusive and 1-- B to 6-- B

;A'y inclusive.)
''"' "''.'." '.... -- :r .' :

MR. MEDALIE: With your permission I shal?, read to ,

IP--"-- -"
'

FT the jury Exhibits 1-- B to 6-- B, being admitted translations

of Exhibits 1 to 6 inclusive.
JHb1(!----:--R;4j:-- "

'"-
-

'

- r
MR. KIEFER: Yes, subject, as I understand.it, at



rr'TBTfyyPlM i i .. . .a i i. i miiiwpii' 1X1?
tkc tl&M of tkt ! ;, thai unless your Imst ii
satisfied that the defendant is connected with those

letters that theletters will he stricken out and the case

will fall.
J JA

THE COURT: The .people cl aiM that he has been con- - $4

i$S
neoeted with than already. '

J

MR. KIEFER: Well, that is a question of law, I take ;

it, for your Honor.

THE COURT: well, I will rule that there is some

evidence connecting him with those letters now; but the
t jury must pass upon the weight to be given to the evidence. ? 1

I will receive them in evidence. I don't know yet what

the contents of the letters are. ' '

(Mr. Medalie now reads the letters to the-jury.- )

, 0
t

4 CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. KIEFER:
f

I '

Q You are an admitted American pharmacist, jaren't you? A Yes, bbbbbbbbbbbbm

sir.
Q You talk English, and read English and write English,

bbbbbbm' .LbbbbI bbb1

don't you?

THE COURT: I went fully into that subject, and I asked

him to speak Italian in order to expedite matters.s
MR. KIEFER: Well, it is very embarrassing.

THE COURT: It is of no importance whether he' speaks
$s

English or not. . .

MR. KIEFER: All right.
i

4 When was the defendant irreeted? A The 5th day of August.



11"
'Q, Than y received a letter on the 6th day of Aueuat. after

0(the defendant was arreated and put in Jail? A Tea, the following
I I

day,

Q, And that 1b the evidence that you are offering here to con--
sfnect the defendant with the orime that you charge him with?
ftt

MR. MEDALIE: I object to that. He offers nothing.' AV'
E.,c

I do the offering. &

4 0

THE COURT: Objection auetained. This is not ai"

action between the defendant and the complainant, it is
I!V$ i

betveen the People of the gtate of New York and this
defendant, and the complainant is simply-- a witness for the
People. -

Q That was dated August 6 til, at 9 a. m.? A Tes, sir.
Q- - And thattis the time that you received it? A Tes, sir.

MR. KIEFER: Aigu st 6th, 9 a. m. , and I ask you

gentlemen to look at the writing and see whether that is a1

boys or a man's handwriting at the same time.

MR. MEDALIE: I don't know and I don't care who EM
wrote those letters. We can assume for the purposes of

this case that somebody else wrote those letters.
MR. KIEFER: It is a circumstance in the case, though.

THE COURT: The defendant is-no- t charged with writing
ithe letters,.i

'i

MR., KIEFER: Then how are they in evidence if he is
not charged. "

THE COURT: As part' of the proof that he attempted to H

If" !
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MR. 1CCEFER: But I have the agreement that unless

the defendant was connected with these lettersSpA'- -

THE' COURT: He did riot have to write them to be

connected with than If he was concerned. with the writings
diflnm '

of them and knew of the writing of than and acting in ?

concert with the person who wrote them -- -- .

MR. KIEFER: All right, fi
;'

:; Q, How long are you in the country? A Twelve years.
. , ..

Q With what wholesale drug firm do you deal? A American

druggist Syndicate j of which I am a member.

Q, Where is their place of business?
'

,
" ' ' v' "' '-.-

'''.

.

--'- -.' '.-- '

;,i.'...v - 4ER. MEDALlE:- - I think this is wholly immaterial." we
Ill ilHJTW.iMJti , ,

are hearing the end of the term

THE COURT: I will allow it. I cannot tell whether

it is immaterial or not.

A long Island. '

Q, Where? A Long Island, Hew York. ..

Q Wellj Xong Island is the biggest island in the wo rid j as

I understand it. Where is it, I mean, in America? A long

Island City.
'

' " x ''''. '

Q What number? A I don't remember.

Q Where do you buy your cocaine and ucalne and herion at?

A I Have got about a gram of cocaine for over six years; I

never sold it.
.

.1
Btfi THfy COURT: Q Where, do you buy it, he aeked? A I bought

T J
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t
IX MR. XIKjrgH: -- " 'Vfi

Q And that is the last you bought-- ? A Yes, sir.
Q What about uoaine? A I don't, know that drug. .

i?Jt Q What about herion? A I -- have got that drug, and it .was

in the drug store' at the time I bought the. drug store from one-- 2

named Magaldi. '

BY THE COURT: '

Q When did you buy the drug store? A About five years and

a half. '

t$fei -

BY MR. KIEPER:

' Q Andou remember distinctly .that you have not bought

cocaine for six years and herion for five years, and the other
--JsJ

drug you don't know? A Yes, sir. Not exaotly six years, about

that.
Q HiW the police accused ypu of selling herion -- to boys?

THE COURT: I will 'sustain an objection to that que-

stion. Police accusations amount to nothing. A conviction
by a jury or a magistrate you may show, or any criminal
or , disgraceful act in his. career. Accusations amount to"

nothing, they are only hearsay at best.
MR. KIEFER: He made answer on the direct examination

to the " District .Attorney that lie knew this defendant from
k

having come to his place and asked for cocaine

MR.MEDALIE: And that he refused It.
lr,sr

fy THE, COURT: But what the police say about. a man '

1& -- - A MP

'amounts to nothing. :. "



M

JIR. XEDAHE: I don't know that they said it in thisJT "ft

CM
o&a e either.

THE COURT: But he is a o aiming that they did. That

is no proof of guilt,
IM

MR. KEEPER: I am not asking for arrest's.

THE COURT: Tou have a right .to ask him if he has

been oonvioted of selling cocaine, or if" he, has sold

cocaine, in violation of the law," or if he has done any ,

criminal or vicious or immoral act; all that is admissible

on his' credibility, but what saae one said about him is not

admissible. ..."Lf ?

. MR. KIEFER: In view of these statements it would

be useless forme to ask him that question.,

THE COURT: I am merely telling you the law. Tou

are cross examining. Of course the jury will disregard

that question as to the accusation made against him, if
any were made I don't know, butt it is immaterial whether

they were or not, and highly improper to ask such a ques-tio- n.

1
Q, The first time that you saw this defendant in your place

of business was two months before you received the first letter,
you stated on your direct .examination? A Yes, sir.

m
Q And when was the next time that you saw him then in y ur

store? A About two weeks after I saw him pass. in front of the ,

I.drug store.
Q Xou said that the first time Shati.he came to your store to L t



I

"11..11 .. y .
,..j,,Aiji .Kfi va"' W T-W-

TOirt? August 4th, rfttr hi repaired all the
.w

letters, all the black hand letters is that right? A When --he

oaae and asked rae .for the money, yes. i

Q That was August the 4th? A Tea, sir.
Q And up until that time you had only seen him twice be

t
X h

fore then? A Jes, sir.
CI Are you positive about that? A Yes, yes.

Q, At the time that he came in and asked you for the cocaine

what was the conversation? Give the language used, please?

A He came to me and he says, "Will youpflease sell me about J
t

fifty cents or a dollar s worth of cocaine? " I said, "Ho, sir,
yi I couldn't give it to you, any cocaine, except you bring me a

tH

prescription from the doctor", and he begged me to sell the
PIV - 4 .. 4---v

--U4.- w.- -l T J M- M- 4 T ..1 ,Jw. t 4. J ii 4-- ....

He said, "All right-- , you will feel sorry for it, "and he went
f

Q And that was all the conversation you Had with him .until

August the 4th? A Yes, sir.
Q Now,, on August the 4th will you kindly state vhat conver-sati-on

r --,

, you had with him? A When he came to me he tipped me on '

IS

the shoulder and he says to me, - i

Q, That was before the telephone conversation, was it?
THE COURT: Please do not interrupt him. You did not ask

him .anything about before the telephone.

MR. KIEFER: All right.

A (Witness continuing) He tapped me on the shoulder and he



,K?V"
,

- a
to e. "I &m the one froa the bliek hand, I come over

3 here to get themtmey. I says to him. "You know I haven't
got any money", and he'says tome, "Well, you. must pay something,

s ,How muoh oo dd' you give ub." I-sai- d, "I don't know, I haven't
ft

.

'
' '. '" .':'' : '

'. ..'-'-- ..
" '.'.- -

got any money." "Will you give me $25 this time?" I says, "To-- , ?

-- &. day. I haven't got any money; I will ask -- my wife to oome doyn '

sk1
9& here and go out and, pawn whatever Jewelry she has got, and I

j will give you whatever she will "bring. "

Q And that was the whole conversation at that time? A Then. d

he says to me that he wjuld come back at 'four o'clock,

Q Well, that voas the whole conversation then? A Yes, slrv
Q, And that was oh August the 4,th? A' Th,e 4th or the

'
5th.

-
. . '. "..' ' ' .''. ;

'

HKfei
Qf But he was arrested on the 5th? A The sane day that he ' :

was arrested.
Q And that was the same day that he. was arrested? A When he

'' ' - .'. '.. .'. . .

'

f1" Jp :;; took the money, yes. "

Q Well, you had no conversation after he was arrested,

did you? A Ho, sir.
V . i :

Q And all he said to you was., "tcm from the black hand"?

A "I am the one from the black hands".
IP' ;;.

"

Q And from the early p art of July until August the 4 th, you
-

had received five letters, is that right? A Yes, sir.'.'.'"..'' ' '

.

" ''.''.Q. And you had done nothing ih.tthe matter? A My wife went

4

with the letter to the police and the police would tell my'
&"

.wife not to be afraid, at any time we would receive any letter i

I?
Hf'

to bring it to then. -- 'H'



Hi ' ',' - k B-w- t you Aid not take thew'down to them, did you? A Ky JJpHi -

BBfir wife$ yes, did bring then to thera. t.
,' J ii

r!wv. ' Q In the morning of August 5th what diet this defendant say
.

"
. '

to you? A He came about hair past a even in the morning and he'
. . - .- -.. -,- - ,

4lVft9 Wl A am 41 A rtV Alii nw Mirtfl n 1T n tt.T ' tm 1 A am ft mM W T k.l ' .
uuuwi-iou- . mo uu iiuo oii.wua.vkUA wiu .acyya cum cue unc iiuu iuc ijLauA:" jJpjiaE '

hand; the money I want.1 And I said to him, "I haven't got.

no money1-- , and he says to me, "You must give me some money",
' 3bH

and I asked him, "What would you ask for?" He said Tor this '

time I will be satisfied with $25", and I scys to him "In the
f ..':. '.'

house I haven't got any money.. My
'

wife has got some jewelry,'
.

I will ask her to go and pawn that jewelry, and whatever money

she gets she will give it to you."
I? .

Q, You were not in the house at that time, were ;you? A When?
Ibm '

Q At the time you were talking about, when this happened?

. A He was talking. I was in the drug store.
Q Aid where were you standing? A In the drug store;

HP
Q Where in the drug store? A. In the back of the prescription 151

counter. ''.hhV hb

Q The defendant came right, in and. walked back of your

KM', prescription counter and tapped you on the shoulder? A When he
&Cs- -

k

came in, he seys to me, "I want to talk to you", and we started

back to the prescription counter.
.- -

Q You took .him back to the prescription counter.

Q, Oh, he went ahead fa you? A Yes, sir.
' - .''Q were you back in the prescription counter when he first

uv3
talked to you? Alwas sitting right in front of the drug store



fnmssi

V if i raw
5

,vhe he There he pl nil hands pn.wy shoulder ana

says to ae, "I want to talk to you", and then he went inside
and I went with him.

Q And he walked right baok in your private office? A Yes.

$. Andbu were not standing in your store when this defend-.-.,

ant came In? A I was sitting.
f. f8

Q And you told him you had no money in the house and that 'CMJ

he was he says to me that he wants the money. I told him

that I have no money in the house. He says that he must have

some money; and I asked him, J'What would you want?" He says to

me, for this time "I will be satisfied with $25", and I told him

that my wife had seme Jewelry, that I will ask ray wife to go

t
and pawn her welry, and whatever money we get we will pay.,

p' Q Then you were to the police station before the morningtv

of August 5th, is that right? A Yes, sir.
IPfcmr

Q How often wtexe you? A Twice I went up there and:my wife
1

every moment. 1f

Q Your wife was up every moment. Have yctu received black

hand letters since the arrest of this defendant, outside of

this one dated August 6th? A Only the one, the sixth one

marked in evidence. A -

Q Was your place ever .blown up by a bomb? A They said that

they would place bombs there, but never a bomb, was exploded

there.
Q Was your place downtown blown up?

MR. MEdAUE: What place is that? I don't know any- -'
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Q, Did youh'are a place of business downtowa some yiTarifrsge?-- A

AHYes, sir.
Q Was that blown up with a bomb7 A No, Bir.

.Q Did you receive threatening letterB while you ware in
that-plac- e domtown?

4 SwSaSH

MR. MEDALIK: What happened a few years ago, before,

this, la of no materiality. T 3MbI .

THE COURT: I will allow it on cross examination.
:

MR. MEDALIE: I mademy objection only in the interest
of saving time. rt wV lata

A No, sir. t
4

Q, Is your little boy in court? A Yes..
-- t

Q, Did you ever send your little boy to call this defendant

here from a barber shop, to come to your place of business?

A No sir 4
Q Isn't it a fact that you know this defendant f or about

I5f ten years? A No, sir.'
Q, Do you know his father and mother? A No, sir.- -

. Q Are they from the seme town In Italy where you come
f

from? A No, I don't know them.

Q Do you know his uncle? A No, sir.
Q Do you know Mr. Gitto, (indicating a man brought to the

rail of the court room)? A Yes.

Q You know him? A Yes,il know him.

feW. CI He is' from the same town in Italy that you are? A I don't
ST

e
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Koi Long do you'know him? j Atoii

Q Do you know that worn sui (Mr Colon

Q How long do you know her? A About five years.
- i

.

t tJiio xu oiio juuiir. ox buio uBjiuuaii. ion i Bimr jv wier
.' '

the arrest of this defendant' she came in" the drug store and.rtold. 4f l-
-n

me please to not ruin her son,

, Q But you have known her for five years? A I know this
woman by sight, but .1-don- 't know that b he was the mother of

Iftu

this defendant. -

iH;
Q, She is from the same tawn in Italy that you are, is she?", :: :

.
i '

'.

'-.-

.;' .."
''- - .:' '.; '

:- - .v

A I don f' know;- - I never saw her, "

,.
.--

..

Eh- -

--4
Q, Why did you say in answer to my first question that, yo$IT

did not know the mother aid you did not know the uncle of this
tf?N,

boy? A I didn't know them in Italy.
- Q. Do you know Mr. Mangenera? v Aes, sir.

Q He is the uncle of this boy? A I don't know that he' is
' --t-

the unci of the defendant.

Q How often have you visited Mr . Mangenera1 s house? A Sev--
.'.- - '.:..' : ".: "$: -- - '.'era! times. i T -

'.-.'''- , -- t .
'

. ''" "--

. .
.

Q Did-yo- u ever see the defendant there? A No,, sir.
Q How of ten have you visited Paole Gitto's place? A Who

is that,VBaole Gitto? .?;
Q ' He is the mai that you Just identified that you knew'five

i

years? A Oh, he came once. in a while in the drug store. He

KE-- . oeme to the drug store once in a while; to buy some medicine,

and I saw him a few-time- s iat- - Mangenera s house; . ;
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r jf Q- - Did you ever see 'the defendttit there? A No, air. "tjf. -- .:W M:
Q And you still persist in saying that these people are

not from the ejame torn in Italy that you are from? A I don't
know, ' I never met them in Italy. n

M Q How did you come to leave Italy? A I tried to improve

myself in .America.

Q Did you poison your wife and'ocme here with a servant

woman? A I? (Witness laughing) It is a question of a crazy

man, that.
Q We3-1- , you have no. other answer to make, is that it? A What

other answer could I make?
--i 4

f

i Q Did your first wife die in Italy? A Yes, jsir.
.
t. Q -- And the woman that you are living with now, was your servant.

l-- 'Kin Italy wasn't she? A No, sheJ is my lawful wife.u .
-

.

'--
Q Well, she was your servant in Italy, wasn't she? A She

was not a servant,, no, sir.
Q She worked in your house, didn't she?. A -- No,- sir.
Q Will you tell me again of any other place where you "buy Em4drugs, please? A lehn & Pink; Mulford.

Q, Where Is lehn 5c Pink they are down on John street?
' '

A .27 William street.
Q And what is the other man's nane?.A Mulford,. in Phila-delphi- a;

but he has got an agent here in New York, downtovn.

Q Where is the address? A I don't lmow. His agent comes

to me once in a while. "

Q Which of these .letters did you show to this defendant?
v
k



MBP ' THE COURT: Did he ssy Mat he showed any-V- f th to , '.':--'

' '

Pi thethe defendant?defendant? . 4B- - "
-- i

fT MR.MR. KIEFER:KIEFER: II amem goinggoing toto showshow thatthat hehe showedshowed thosethose V?9fjj
R'.'' ' lettersletters allall .toto thethe defendant.defendant. , "v itBm ' '

Us 'ViMB
Bj& THE COURT: Well, then, ask him.

Rk-
- BYBY THETHE COURT:COURT: . .

' ''

.

Q. Did you-sno- w any of those letters to the defendant? A No,

sir.
-

1

BY MR.. KIEFER:GFER: . t

Q, what letter did you ever show to the defendant? A None. V 1

h. .

m.. Q Why did you ask tosee these letters before you would

It '. ' '''.'-.'"'.,."- " ''.' .'''.-
-

. d tell me which one you; showed the defendant? A - I didnt under-

stand'
"

at the time. I understood that it was" the Interpreter

that said to me, "Do you know those, letters", ani I said "Let

me
" see. " ' '..-- '

' '''.
;

"

..' .-'- ." , .
'

.

"i --

.
.

Q, Why did your wife go every minute or very frequently to

the police station?
Sr-'- i - --

""

fer;-'j--
" ft'HTp "? MR. MEDAIIE: I object to that . The wife is the

.--

H

'i'-J-'-f'-
-'

wmn ' 'Al-'- y

'
--''proper person to ask that.pg

.-

-'.

. 1. -'-

-

3gE;;'V.:

BS3 THE .COURT: Objection sustained. '.
Q Is it a fact that yo u sent your little boy to the barber

shop across from your drug store and asked this defendant to.

come oyer and you showed him these letters and you told him you

were afraid of the black hand and you asked him' to act for you

because you were afraid?

m.
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MR. MIDALIK: I object to thdb ' i . alre'ftlgr 8wer4;
d

Objeotion overruled,

A Ho. sir,
Q What is the none of the barber shop across from you?

m
A Padre & Chiaia,

W"1

Q Do you know the defendant's brother? A Yes, sir; he

was shot by a policeman,
" i

Q, Yes, you know all those things to answer, .don1 1 you?

Did you get the defendant's brother to read these letters for

you? A No, sir; -

Q Is the defendant's brother crazy from cocaine that you aal

ery
Ik sold him?

Objected to; .Objection sustained.

MR. KIEFER: He- - said he was shot by a policeman,

THE COURT: Well, you can move- - to strike that out.

Q How many conversationsdid you hare wd th the brother of this

f defendant about .thi3 case?
w -- -
Ei1- -

THE COURT: When?

A Never.

Q Did yo.u see the defendant's brother in the barber- - shop

r across from you on the 5th of August?

THE COURT: At what time?

Q On the 4th of August',' at 11 o'clock, did you see this

defendant and his brother in the barbershop?

, THE COURT: Morning o r night?
i

Q In the morning? A No, sir. .S



MV m
Q Xlc at these letters1 ami tell m if you know the ha Lai

writing of any of th, tell me if you o an read thos; I ask

you to read that L rst letter in Italian.
THE COURT: Now, theref are three questions there,

at least, - ' jy--

''jagi,m
-- ifm

MR. KIEFER: All right. 1 will ask him to raad the
JB

first letter in Italian', 'S8i
1 -

THE COURT: Read it out loud for the jury, that is

ft. the question. -- '4
. 4

Mfl

A (Witness reads letter in Italian to the jury).

HSR?
Q, Well, that will do. I am .satisfied. If you can read

that letter why did you show it to the defendant's "brother to
'

.

read it for you? , .

THE COURT: He said he never showed it to the defen-

dant's "brother to'read it for him.
fk

BY THE COURT:

u
; Q Did you ever show that to the defendant's brother to read

for you? A No, sir; no, sir.
BY MR. KIEFER: Jjg

TOQ, Do you know any of the handwriting in there? A No, sir.
BY THE COURT :

Q Do you recognize the handwriting? A No, sir.
BY MR. KIEFER:

J vA
, Q How do you know the defendant's brother? A I saw him , at --a- IV

tt.' pass once in company with this defend antafter he was shot.

Q Tell uo all youknow about this shot, since you speak
i



m
--'' i

Ob jeoted to Obj ection sustained
".."ait''

Q Did you ever see him at any of hi s uncles' houses? fmKpn
m

I

i

THE COURT I do not see how that is pertinent
MR. KIEFER: It iapart of my case, if your' Honor,. M

will give me the benefit of the di ff ioulty of disproving - ;c:j
Itr

i 5- -

a. liar , ,1 will do the best, thing I can, but I cannot

prove the ease all at once. ','-".- .

MR. MEDALIE: Counsel has made so many remarks that
Ft

counsel should be told not to make these remarks. Many

of them do not get even as far as -- the stenographer.
..s" '3fcl

. ..''
THE COURT: The jury will disregard those remarks;

w .$

MR. KIEFER: In view of what the DistrjAtipniey --

.said, the jury have heard it., - he first denied he khew

the uncle or the; mother or any of the uncles, and then he

comes doto and says heknew the uncle five years.
ST HE COURT: You need fe sum'up the case now.

He said he did not know that ffehatlman was the uncle of

this -- jjef endant.

$ How far 'do the defendant's people live, from you? .

S-,-- f.

rxvigtSv .

"--
. MR. MEDAIIE: I object to any further, inquiry along

'that line. '.'.

THE COURT : Ob j eoti on sustained. Thi s is all col- -
- .' . . '.,.'"'

later al matter. You have asked him suffici ent questi ons

how to call any one to -- pcjntradict. him: and liwill tell - -- - taj''''" ' ' ' '' ',-- '. I
:-i-

;:rJl

''I
,

V

the jury that it-i- o only -- oh a collateral matterf- - whether
i ''' rM



mimttMmmimmiitmmimimmmimittmiiitwiiuimmmmmM,WHmrimw whm mh ' 'SS!Plig9ffiWSM!WiTTyw?SSyS Ti BR"SS' '!'"
jpJ1 m knew tfaoi otlri :Opl J'oi,', s immateri al in this . "riHflH ' lav
. case, and vfether he testified truthfully or falsely.

on those questions, you have to decide the main issue ---- has

WS't',ii" he testified truthfully as to the actions of. thiB-my,

defendant? That is the issue. If you can show any motive''

that he has to testify falsely against this defendant, you
": 1; ''.'may show it; but all this other matter is entirely imm-

aterial.
1

:
.

-
"i-- .

' '

'.'". ",
'

." '
:

'

MR, KIEFER: Well, I do not'see how I can get to it,
unless I have theright to ask these questions "and see how

near they live, to each other,
: $ -

U?Wte.
Wr. THE COURT: I cannot instruct you how to try your

case 'if you do; not know,

v Q Well, you never showed -

THE COURT: You have asked him sufficient questions ,

about those matters, about the relations of this defendant.

Q Well, yau never had' any conversation vdth this defendant
;..

t-

- .; .

'

,

'

'".'. .. '.
' '

.

"
.-

- v ".-- '

about those letters whatever? A Ho, sir.
1' , Q Arid you were in fear then of the defendant, were you?

THE COURT: When, at what time?

Q At any time? '
..v

BY THE COURT: '.

4$l' Were you ever in fear of the def endant? A No, sir.
BY MR. KIEFER:'. .

Q Did you tell thi District Attorney --- -" he said in his open- -,

I?" ' ,t, ...p?- -

ing to thj Jury that you pd. d thi s money bee aus'e these letters
Hi"

?
.



WSIWffil!IHWBImii MHHBPWKHHHHGwSa " ' 'ksih, !

MBMM'""'1 1 1 1" ' Cj-";-
S MBLn -

i1&?it7t" theTpitftie who ha4T?ritten tha put;" you
SSI" &

in fear; did you ever tell him that they put you in fear?
THE COURT: I will sustain an objection to that que-

stion.
' " '

. -

MR. KIEFER: All right, that1 s all, " ' ',

- pSJWM
RE-DIRE-

CT EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE: lraHH

Q, What towi in Italy. did you come, from?
1

THE COURT: What is the use of opening all that up

again? It does not make any difference where he came from; i

he is here now and entitled to the protection of our lawf
rfff

and the law is plain. As, to the facts, the jury will de--

1 t ermine from 'fche, evidence
-- . t

E M I L-- E PAN E VI N 0 (Detective Burlau, 31st Precinct)
k

L7- -J 9

called as a witness in behalf of the leople, Sljhlng been first
jiiWf

J

duly sworn, testifies' as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION 'BY MR. MEDAUE:

Q-- On the 5th of August of this year did you go to the drug
f- - . .

m

Btore of the complaining witness at 314 East 112th street?

A Yes, sir. -

Q What time of the day? A About 4:20 or 4:25.

Q What part of the drug store did you go to? A In the rear
4

of the partition, right in the back .of the partition, in the

rear- - of the store.
'BY THE COURT:

Q, At 4:20 in the afternoon? A Yes, sir.
-- ..,-
,3M

BY MB. MEDALIE: A Sow long were ybu there before anything



-- 'I mwwfWi PR tfw IBa PihwHHU &; .;
-ha- pp4?-A---0hV--I"sh"ourcnuctee about fire minute,

!t rc
Q. Then what occurred? Please state that fully to the jury,

E --
--

"

all the conversation and everything that was said and done?

A When I first went into the rear of the store, I secreted
myself in the place. I was given a description of the. defend-

ant, that he would wear a checked.cep, and about his height,

I and so forth. Well, when I saw this person come in, I imm- e-

as
diately walked out and wentnear the partition on the entrance

i

of the rear of the store .as I possibly could without being '8
seen. The complainant .and his wife were also near this door,

'and the defendant approached the complaining. witness and asked

as to whether he was ready, in the Italian language , and I was

near enough, at the .most thre to four feet.
V?, '

BY THE COURT: '

Q You understand Italian, do you? A Yes, sir.'
ft You speak Italian? A Yes, sir. Aid the complaining

witness said, "Yes", with that the wife opened her purse and

drew, out this money, and handed it to the defendant. The Emwife took the money and handed it to the defendant and he

opened the money and remarked that.it was 'not enough; and the

complainant said', "Well, it was all that I was able to get

on the pledge that my wife took in the pawnshop, but if you will
promise --that I will not be pestere'aajr more and you will

sf
straighten this thing out for me, in a few days I will do sane-- .

1

thing-mor- e for you", end he said, "Well, of course, I have got if
to see - there is a f ellowMorelli in East 107th street, of

i- -
Sv

LS- - course I will have to talk to him aid fix it up." And so the



)WI
aeaplakiant repeated that hft would. se that he would not 1d '7

bothered any more, and he said that he would not, to leave it
m to him, act d it would be all right. With that he takes the money

and 1b about to place it in his pocket, when I get him from be-

hind the partition and take hold of him, aid wao Just dragging

him in the rear until some other officer came in to assist me.

So he turned around to the complainant and he said, "So, this

is what you have done, hey?M And in the meantime Officer '

De Martine came in and he saw that the. def endant still had the -- tj
ff

'JWJiJ

money in his grasp; . and he was afterwards taken to the sta-tio- n

i house end placed under arrest,
V

Q, I show you People1 s Exhibits 7 to 17 inclusive, and I
sa

ask you whether thisis'the money which you took from the defend-

ant,
1

marked in this way? A There is a list there,

Q I show you People's Exhibit 18 for identification, con--

tainting a list of numbers, and csk you whether you compared

this list with the numbers, the. serial numbers on Jthose bills?
A In the station house, yes, sir.

ft Do the bills correspond with the list, People's Exhibit
'-- -'

.-- . n i wjloy 4 xes, sir.
Q Did the defendant say jrrikiy thing to you when you placed

y him under arrest? A Well, at the time, no, but in the house

he was willing to make a statement.

Q, What statement did he make? A He said that what he had
r
1 Ay .

done was done on his own, responsibility. That is, nobody else

had made him "do It or asked him to do it. .'

t&"

rat;
' Q Did you ask him whether other person sMwai8bbrtc erne d in



fiWMSSsS --kti.- iwwjnriv- - '?irnH 'this orime? A Yea , sir-- ' tmtn -- h eritie& the neme of Her Hi ' t

in the station house as to the part Morelli played in it,
..',-- . '. - .. im i

He said, No,. no, I done this, nobody else; I done' that on my k"- - "
, V ... - .....

-

own responsibility." l

'

.. : '" 'l. ' '.-.-

-. k
'

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MP. KEEPER:
$'WW

Q You are sure that he had the money in his hand all the

, time, are you? A Yea, sir. .

Q The complainant 'says he put it 'in his pocket; who is
correct? A How is that?

Q The complaining witn'ess says he put it in his pockety
0

who is-correct-
? A When I took him by-th- e neck he had thatfLj&jiQu.iiijEl.p in his4. money hand..

Q You were standing behind a glass partition -- -- '
'"-t-

w

THE COURT: If is immaterial whether he had it in ' &?,

his pocket or in his hand. Let the jury pass on that, whether
'

fe" .S that is important. You can call the attention of the jury to
IW5F

tlft-'-:- '
5 ft"

.

'-

-

m- - those discrepancies. He must not be asked to characterize

.... the testimonyof other witnesses.
Q, You were standing back of a glass partition, were you not?

A At the opening of the door, and that partition is of glasB,

,, and it is such glass that you can look right through - -- it is
" ''''" '

' '

1 not stained or ground glass of any kind.
' '' ' "

r .'
.

4V ' Q Anybody, could see you stand there? A If he had turned

aro' tnd at the time he could see me . stand there.
' '" ''..' ..''.. .

'''-,::-
'

Q Where was the complaining witness at the time this defendant

entered? A At the edge of the counter "is where I -- saw thtf



- S

N. 1 Sfleewpl sitting witness and hi a wife.

Q And you saw the defendant come in, did you? A Hot n-- j

i

$w

coming in; I saw him when he got to the rear of the: store,
Q

wfitowards the partition. J
'

,M-a- i

' Q And at that time he i had not talked to the complaining

witness yet, had he? A No, sir,,
Q And you saw him, and what did he say? Tell us in Italian

what he said? "Si et du pronde?" That signifies in Italian, t

"Are you ready?" I

1

Q, Where was the complainant standing at that time, the

complainant and his wife? A Right at the edge of the opening

of the couater and the parti tion; the complaining witness 3

right here the partition was right here. I was right in
t3
?J- - the rear and the defendant was right in front of thou.

--5s

Q Well, the defendant di d no t do anything to put the

complaining witness in fear, did he?

'MR. MEDALIE: Objected to, inTHE COURT: I will allow him to ask about anything

the defendant did or said there.

Q Was there anything the defendant did to the complainant

.1 at that time? A Not at that time, no, sir.
BY THE COURT :

Q Except to ask him, "Are you ready?"?" A "Are you ready?"

BY MR. ECEPER:

Was that all the conversation? A 'Except what conversation

I related before, a few minutes ago. -- ,



m
$9

m Q Wtiij what m that A That the wife ease, took ut this
money from her purse and paid it to her husband, handed this,

J

and her husband handed this money to the mm..

Q Who handed there? A She handed the money.

THE COURT: Please do not interrupt him when he is
V--

.

'.-fv- ,irvR

, answering. If when he finishes you think the answer is
irresponsive or improper you may have your rem eidy, but we

must get through. Proceed,Officer. . . .1

'' "

.

".'--- '
-

A (Witness continuing) The wife done the handing of the money,

she had it in'her purse. Both, she and the husband requested

the defendant that they would do better in a few days if he
.' i ""'.'

-

would promise or assure them that they would. not be bothered
I--

J."
"H

..
3V- -

with any more of these letters end be freed from this annoyance,

and he looked at the moneyoand saw that it was not enough and

he said, "Well, of course, I have got to see Mbrelli in 107th --

street, but you promise that you will do better, why, I will

assure you eve y thing will be all right arid fixed up.
&.

BY MR. KEEPER:

s?v Q Had they promised to do better? A The defendant said that, ra
that if he would do better he would fix it up as. long as the

complainant was not bothered. .,
V

p
' Q How many conversations did you have with the complainant

with regard to thi.s case at that time, up till that time?

A' That was the first day I saw the complainant.
...' '.. ',.'..-- '

,, Q That was the first day you. saw --- -' A. 'The complainant
I

yeB, . sir.- - , . .

- .
:

fi



f

Q. Did hfl tell vail MVfi1n 4m vol d --f 4-V.-4 --
' - iViil

- m - v - " J" 5 Sktft fJ
A I was informed about the oaae before I went there,

Q, What were you informed about it?
Objected to Objection overruled

1

r

Q What was said to you about the case and by whom?.
Mr t .

A The acting captain of the district asked me to go to the I"

,-3-

1

r rl,
f' . Ti
ft 39th, because I was not known "there.

""
ias

. i

PL
' THE COURT: Never mind his reasons. What did the.

1 &'

captain say to you?

Q And when was this? A I got a telephone message to go

up there. When I got to the 39th Precinct they had already

made arrangements.

BY THE COURT:

Q Please tell us what the captain said to yo u? A I didn't
see the captain.

Q, Who spoke to you? A Off icer X3assetti and DaMartine, they

had arranged with me.

Q Never mind what theyhad arranged, flon't you understand

English? What did they say to you? A For me to go into the,
store and "planU inside the store until such time as the de-

fendant would put in an appearance. i
A

THE COURT: We wiil, adjourn now 1 until .to-morr- ow morning

El
1 at half past ten. Meanwhile, be careful not to discuss M

Bp.. this Case among yourselyes, nor. with any one else an d do

no t come to any conclusion as to the guilt or innocence of o w u
9ft s- -

the def aidant.: until you hear all that id tjo be 'said on both .A



MPfeffr agaaa 81;ifff:?a IK
m. . sides, iwi?uitil th e 6 ae la given t ";"ypu by the Court V
$- -

--"s

for your decision; that is the time for you to make up your

3 mind and not bdfore that. Now, you may go until to-morr- ow.

Hi
(ADJOURNED to October ,36th, i.913 , at 10f:30 a. m. )

P;- - New York, October 30th, 1913.
T,

TRIAL RESUMED.- -

K AT E R IN A M I R E N D I , (313 and 315 East 112th street )
"

.

"

called as a witness in behalf of the People, being first duly

sworn, testifies as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE: .

&!
W..- -

Q You are the wife of Vito Mirendi? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you recall the day on which thi3 defendant was arrested,.

. .

'

the5th of August of this year? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you recall what occurred between four and five o'clock

on that afternoon? A Yes, sir. .

tfc ' 51Q Did you see the defendant in your-husbandV- s drug store at

that time? A Yes, sir.
( Did you see him enter the drug store? A Yes, sir.'.. '..'..-'-- . '."
Q Where were you at the time? A I came from Third avenue.

Q What, if anything
' dd the defendant say? A "Are you ready?"

.

: '

' "

;

' '.
'

:"'5
Q To whom dlid he say, that? A To my husband.

iif &
s- -z f.Q What did ymAhusbaTOsay? A Yes, we are ready;.

;.' Q What was the rest of the conversation? A When my husband

says "We are ready11 my husband asked me "Did you get any money? jfis
. '' '.' .' h i .' .' '
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r9"..l!TKS&mwwixstm&. rMm

i j j ii-w- " f-
- : :?- -

4'f-
-

Did you pawn your Jawelry?!!. . "Tei",;"; I Bays to my huab a 4, "That
s& i . - --

. .-
-.., '"'',!f" i

&
Pli' "

la all the money Ig6t,w "How much is that?" "111." I went

to i hand. this money to my hush aid. My husband said "No, give

it to him." I gave the money to the defendant. H He took the

money and he. said "That is not enough, that is very little. This

money is not for me, I must give this money to Nick Morelli."
My husband says, "Well, that is all you could get until'

.: '. "$ ' "."' . . v 'L -- i
in a few. days we may be ablfr'to

.

get more, and you shall 'have
.j -- - j

". .
"- -

it." Then after I gave himr the money he .says to me, "Now, that fx.;

you gave me the money let me have back the letters", and I said

to him, "No, I have got only one letterrjhere and I will keep this
- - ',j

iS: ' .

:

5',!,. as a souvenir; the other letters I have got upstairs." I told
'itj
Sit him a. lie then, because I had the other .letter in the hand of

the police at the 104th street station house.

After that the defendant that was hiding in the back of.

the drug store came out and caught hold of iiim by the. neck.
MlS:"

WtS' After this I went out the door and I placed the handkerchief over

61my mouth to call the attention of other detectives,
'

and they
' .LbBbI HKw; come arid they took him away to the station house and that1 o all. 1BBBBBH '

";,'v J
-- -'' . ':.' '

-
-

- ,

ir Q From whom did you-recjeiv- e the, $11 that you handed to the
pf-v- -

def en dant ? A My hu sb an d ,'i.

Q When did he give it to you? "A In the morning.,
.

J
.. - '4- -

Q What did thedef.en dant say when he was placed -- iihder ar-re- st?

A He wair speaking to iny husband and says to my husband, '-

-f.
, i

4BBBoXn you have betrayed me, hey I", A Th fit i s all.. The police- -
.

'

:

.
--.it. J3

tan took him away. ,, ' V? '' 4v
s V ',:. '

-

..'-.-
.' .' -

.

'--

.- , : IBBB
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GQM IXJKIltATiOft. BY MR. ECMTMR:

Q The defendant was in the atore talking with your husband

when you came in, is that right?.. .t

THE COURT: At what time do you mean now? At the

time of the arrest, or when the money is said to have '"".. , , e

passed? iK'--

iff

MR. KIEFER: Well, that is the only time we have "been
-- ." '

. , ".
. '.'.'

talking about.

THE COURT: He was j,ri the store at other times. I

MR. KIEEER: well,, I mean the date of the arrest.
..'''- - -

.

"
"

BY THE COURT:
3M:

Nft '
Q This time --when he was arrested, were you in the store ;

V

before he camein, or was he in there when you cane, ih? A I

went in the drug store; as soon as I got in the drug store he

was right in back of me; he says,
.
"Are you ready?".''' , "'''...'"'BY MR . KIEFER: .''''

Q, How many letters has your husband received altogether,

black hand letters?
' :

, . V ..
'

.

' '
. ..' t

THE COURT: If you know?

BY THE COURT: .

Q Do you know, first? A I believe it was five or six.
iU- -

BY MR. KIEFER:
..' ...

Q How many has he received since the arrest? A I don't

remember if it was one;' or two.

Q What did the defendant do with the money that you gave':
apt

him? A He had the money in his hand, and he was in motion to
f'v- -

.

j.T-- r



immm ,'.
put the money in hi a pocket, but he did not get no tiie to 'ii

that, because the officer datight liold of him before he had
v3i

time to put the money in his pocket,
wm

Q What number was your husband' s store in 40th street? vk

i"V A We never had any drug store in 40th street,,
Q Wher3e was your other drug store? A I don't" remember jv

.
.

smf :

the street or the number, becauoe.it' is more than five years ' '?JR
'MWP'

ago that we lived there',

a:; Q How many years were you at that place that you left
five years ago? A ' About three and a half or four years, I &&

".s

don't remember exactly well, and I don't want to tell any lie,
Q Did your husband reoeiv-- e black hand 'letter's there?

. .Objected to. Objection sustained,

Q, How many times have you seen this defendant here before

his arrest? A I saw him only once. He d erne in the drug store

two months.previous to that (when) we received the letter
asking fo r some cocaine then of course I would see him very

often passing in front of the drug store. '...'.
Q Did you live four months in his uncle' s house? A I m. owa?

SSffirii don't know, .
'

Q .You know Mr. Mangenera, don't you? A . I know him because
M

he came once-i- n my house with some other .friends, but I never
"

.

' .' ...'. Vi,v.' ... .'..'..:.visited his house.

&' Q Didn't you and your husband live four months in Mr, Mange- -

nera' s hbu'se? A Ho, sir, never, fiv'iSi'''
jMl-vms- i

4
, .. Q . Did Tyou live at 152 East il6th street at any time?

'.
'

Rf '



m
-- u

A lr- - sir, I did lire aorosa the way from he church of Koit
r t

0(O&rwel.
I I

Q What number ia that? A I don't know,

Q Were you in this store when your husband sent your little
son to call this boy1 in the store?

i

MR. MEDALIE: Objected to as assuming a fact.
. ..

r.:La3!
THE 03URT: ' Objection sustained to, the form of the ;?- -

fcU

question.

Q Well, the time that you were in the store that this young '

man came in, you say you were in' the store once before the
3

time before this young man came in, you say that this young

man came in the store once before, the 5th day of August, .is

that right?

THE COURT: I think that that question had better
be reframed. Begin again.

BY THE COURT:

wiJ
sgr Q. How many times did you see him in your husband's store?

A Once.

Q, And that was .the day he was arrested? A No, sir ratwo months before I received the let'ter. ;
t

Q Then you saw him twice? A Yes, with the time that "he

was arrested, twice.
PT

Q The .times he was arrested, and once two months before
-- -J i

that? A Yes, sir. . f

f j.
BY MR. KIE3TER:

Ft- - f
Q Was your little son in the store at the time that you

JOf
f-

-r



I mMSttrimfamnngmrwi
PHPsP.. JIillPpl4iilr aiWI Mvbbbhsw.1'! smwmm

fK1... firat a aw Mm? A Wo, sir. .. n p -- yjTO? i;.??5!flBH
to"s.W- -

. .- ", "' W rtife.?--' J
-- .

' . . '
. . .'.. .. U dl'Jj cR'ii jiow many times were you to the police station, or-dl- !d 'vbfftW

.
-- .. T

'AJ
see the police captain in this case? . '' A

Ai

THE COURT: Reframe your question. There are two

questions there
. :J3

',
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c& know how niany times, but I went up- - there very often. ''

Q How many times did you see the. police? A I dbn't know

the number. I wo uld talk all the time with some-ma- n that
speaks Italian.

.

'' '

-
'

.

'
. . . ?

"

P E. L I X .B.. DE-- , M ART IN I, (;Detective Bureau, 29th

''.'.Precinct), called as a witness in behalf of the People, being

first duly sworn, testifies as follows:
'

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE: ...
. .

Q, You recall the 5th of August of this year when the defend

ant was. arrested? A I do.:,'

Q, Do you recall the preceding Sunday? A Sunday?

Q Well, do you recall a day before that when you marked

certain dollar bills? A Yes, sir, ra
Q What day was that? A I don't remember.lt was some day in

the week. f
'

. .-
-

-- '" - k , .
' '

'
,

Q Two or three day s before? A A few days before. ',

Q Was acting captain Jone1 of th e Detective Bureau. , there?

A Yes, sir.
-- Q And was the complaining witness, Vito Mirendi, there? ..

'

A Yes, sir. If
.- -.
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Q I how you Exhibits 7 to 17 in evldenee, nd I arte you

whether the "D" under the large "1" in the upper left-hw-d CM
t i

corner of each one of these bills is in your handwriting? I C

A Yes, sir,
Q Were these bills delivered to -- the complaining witness. p

tt VfrT-Jllf-
P

Vito Mirendi? A Yes, sir, ' '

3-JHBB-

B

. Q Do you know whether or not you copied the serial numbers
R' JtKil"ftsfflea

"Y.

from these bills? A I know that Oaptain Jones copied them, KWl

and I think I copied then myself,

A I show you People's Exhibit 18 for identification and I

ask you if you know whose handwriting that is? A That is my . r ll

E
'v handwriting.

Q Did you make a copy of the numbers on "these bills? A

Yes, sir,
Q Do the numbers on People's Exhibit 18 for identificar

tion correspond with the serial numbers on the bills 7 to 17

Inclusive? A Yes, sir. . ,

. MR. MEDAUE: I offer Exhibit 18 for identificationi EM' p

in evidence.

(Received inevidence and marked, People1 a Exhibit 18k)
,i i

Q Immediately prior to the arrest of the defendant on the

5th of August, where were you? A Why, I was standing about 75

or 80 feet up from the drug store.,,

Q What caused you to enter the drug store? A A woman cane.
--

..out and a man went in there and was motioning to come in, and

cat
.

I immediately rum?. over to the door and there I sawiOfficer
r ;- --

r -
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atari atnaglig with' the defendant, and finally the (tof Mi" iNES --- cm

1BN r
ant was to the floor, and I Joined In and inaedlately grabbed "th? cm .

hold of him and removed those bills from hi a right-han- d while

he was on the floor.
Q You removed Exhibits 7 to 17 from him? A Yes, sir,

ft -
Q And what, if anything did the defendant say? A Pahavino-sai- d

"All right, we have got him"; I said, "Let go", and no

sooner did I get hold of him - he remained still for a few

seoonds' and all of sudden he drags me from about the middle of

ii the drug store to the outside step, where Panavlno immediately
3t joined me in and we subdued him and kept him there till we.

managed to get a good grip on him and walked' him to the station

house.
Lf' Q At the station house did you and the other officers have

a conversation with him? A We did.

Q What was said? A At the station house?
4

BY THE COURT:

5Kalfv Q, What did he aar to you? Did he say anything on the way
i i '

to the station house? A Yes. he said to us w0h, what a fool 1

am! Kill-m- e N9 he says, "Kill me, kill me, I know I am a fool, 55
kill me," I said "Not at all. You are a foolish boy, that a

4x- - all you are". 4 so I says, "Wh!at did this man ever do to you?".

He said "Nothing at all." And f inAlly the conversation was
(

t t

kept on- - after we got in the station house, and I- - said "What

possessed you to go. in there?" Well, he says, "I knew the
'J.

fellow and he told me he had got letters, and see if I could
' ' "r rno.t fi up a black hand case for him, and that is what I done- -



A",,

tryimg ts fix up the ei for his
Q Did you iak;hira about a person by the name of Nick Morelli?

A Oh, we apoke about Morelli. I asked him if he knew Morelli.
He said yes. well, I asked him-- , "Did Morelli Bend you here, or

-- ;

did he have any part?" He said, "No, nothing at all.M . He said.
;

"I have got nobody to blame but myself."
l--S

'- -t i i,CROSS EXAMINATIOH BY MR. KIEFER:

iQ So he said to you that the complaining witness had

aBked him to see these letters to look at these letters and

see if he could fix up the black hand for him? A Not to fix
the letters. He said that the complaining witness had spoken .

about fixing up a black hand case for him - to see if he could
--M

Fi

BKJiA- -iV find the people wtio had - ,

Q, That was right after you had arrested him? A That was at

the station house.

Q, How, who was motioning to you? A Why, I was, first
I saw' a man.K!

Q Do you know who that man is? A Why he is a friend of em
Mr. Mirendi of Mr. Mirendi, the complaining witness.

Q, And he motioned to you? You never knew him before, did you?
IJrtV

A I think he was with us the day I marked those bills.
i Q You don't know that? A" I am iuite sure he was.
if,

Q Is he here in court? A I don't see him here.
HhSPk - v

Q What was the woman doing? A I couldn't say. I see her

HHm - standing at the door, but I rushed right jlown as soon .as I ; seen

her motion. I knew something wrong was going on .inside, beoauceJ-- 4 S
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the door and give a signal, -- ana I know that- - the fellow that-wa- s

in there was! getting the money, so I immediately rushed to",

the drug store.
Q ,Did you ever ask the -- complaining witness about the ata'te-- ,:

ment the defendant made- - to you at that time in the station

house.? A Why, yes, I spoke to him about that,
Q 0What did he sey? A He said, "It is not true."
Q Did the defendant say anything else about the complaining

. witness at that time? A . Why, ye3, he mentioned something

about he said "Let 'me tell you something; he said, "Tou

. t know that fellow sells cocaine . " I said, "What are you trying
:V?i

to do now, to tell me that in order to lessen up on you? Is

that a stall?" using the slang term, - "That you are trying

vto put up now?" I said, "I don't think a man of his character

would do that thing"; I said, "This is. simply a stall that you"

are trying to cover yourself,"
- p71

, Q Well, he had not asked you for anything up to that time,
Bi afl

had he? A No, not that I know of, no,

$ When you say he said "Kill me, you had black-jack- ed him

already? A" Officer Panavino had black Jacked hini' in order

to keep him from making after he had made the second dive

he was struck J ' '
- f

Q And so he said "Don't kill me" - wasn't that the reason?

A Ho, he' didn't sayDon' t kill me ", :i?no 'Another thing
.v:
. fhe said "Why, if it, was one of youse alone I may have got "i

U
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IL Q Wiom did he say that to? A He told that to me.

. Q He told that to you, too?- - A He did tell that to me.

W Q You were not the man that arrested him? A I participated
if,- -

in the arrest, I was there present and assisted Panavino.

Q, Do you know whether the complaining witness has received" 3a

black hand letters since the arrest of this defendant? .A I --

c.ouldn't say positively, I couldn't soy whether he has or not,
it ' '

I couldn' t say,.
,'

Q Did you know anything about this arrest coming off?
!

A Before the arrest? Yes,

Q You say. you marked these bills two days before the arrest?

A I should B&X about two days, one or two days before.
kT Q Was it on a Sunday? A I couldn't tell you what day of

the week it was. I am not sure. I know I marked them before

the arrest.
Q Do you know what time of the day it was? A I know it was

around' the noon hour, if I am not mistaken, or perhaps a few

hours later, but it was, I think in the afternoon.

Q It might be more than two days, though?' A Well, I

wouldn't say any more than from two to three days, I wouldn't

say any more than that.
Q ,Do you recall a Sunday previous to the 5th day of August?

!,
-- T

A Well, I, couldn't say exactly. I wouldn't say positively,
Q, And What were these bills marked for at that time? A They

'
i. i

were marked as th.e complaining witness stated he had received
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a phsss qall, an d mating on that phone oall that a f ellw wm

to come in and use some signal - 1 think it was to strike him
i

on the shoulder, or something, and he was to give the money

to that fellow, and that he would come around again So I
' -- Si

said, "All right, then I will mark those bills", and I says, , i':

, Jx
if' "If that man' comes try to make an appointment at a later date .

v v n

and inform us so that we can be ar.ound when he rec elves this
m

vS3money. -- ..' "'- -

Q Had you seen the complaining witness previous to that

time? A Previous to which time?
i

Q The time that .you marked the billB? A Oh, I think I had.

I had seen him at the station house.

Q What was the conversation at that time?.

MR. MEDALIE: I object to that. If it is to contradict

the complainant , then he should have been confronted. with

ygtf the statement.

THE COURT; Objection overruled. The object in cross

sfe. - examination is to bring- - out the truth. Any statements

made by the complainant as to this case I shall allow in raevidence,

q Do -- you reclllwhat was said by you and the complaining
VU- -

winess at that time? A Why he had come to the station house

with some letters which threatened him, that they wanted money

and if money was not paid he would be shot or blown' up, and he

Wi-- H was always instructed to try and get in touch with these people
fikfl

and see who was the man who would present himself there, and
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he had ape ken aoaething about the defendant came there and ' '"'

... aw J
. t

wanted to buy some drug, if I am ho t mistaken, but I don't i

know if it was at that particular time or the time after, but
I know that there was a .conversation had on that subject.

PF'-V"'- ' im

''(; Q That was before the arrest? A Yes-- , that was before the
' ' 'fedllsl

.M xSm

' ''.. ' MS
--
..arrest. --

'.''-..' ':- '
' ..' '':- - ":: : ; - -,.'.'. .,-."- -

"l That is all you recall? A That is all I recall noto.
' 'Effl

-- jwwm.
fr5ffil

RE-DIRE- CT EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE:

Q You do not recall whether that conversation concerning

the drug was had on the day of the arrest or some other day;

do you? A No, I do not. I knowuit was before the arrest.
Q It might have been on --the aaine ,dEy? A: It may have been

A
on the same day.. .'

RE-CRO- SS EXAMIN AT ION BY MR. KIEFER:

Q It w as b ef o r 'e tip" ar r es t , yo u ar e sur e of that ?
'.:: .

: :viT? ;: "
: .' ;: :

THE. COURT: "He said so.

BY THE COURT:

l ' r Q. Do you want to chaige that - was that before the arrest?
A That was before the arrest.

MR. MEDALIE: People rest.
MR. KIEPER: At the opening of the case last night,

my understanding was that unless the People connected
-- '. . --

. , .
.

,1,

these letters legally with the defendant the letters would' ' ' ? '--

.- '''')''' "

, I

be stricken out and the case w.aa'j to fall; I now ask

in view of that ruling that your Honor dismiss this, case
Kir



t on thai grou&
tj

4 0(THE COURT: The motion is denied,

MR. ItlEFER: I ask for an exception on the ruling i

feV THE COURT: It ia a question of fact for the jury to

determine. There is testimony concerning these letters
Ms

and concerning this defendant; the Jurors will say whether

the connection has "been established or not.

LORE N'Z 0 C 0 L 0 R A (351 --East 118th street?), the defend-

ant herein, called as. a witness in his own behalf, being first w

m
,duly sworn, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIEFER: . .

IstV Q With whom do you live? A My mother.

Q How old are you? A Seventeen, going on eighteen.

Q What do you work at? A Side gluer at a piano factory
Q Where? A 139th street, Fifth avenue.

Q For whom? A For my uncle.

Q' Do you recall the 5th day of August, the day you were

arrested? A Yes, sir.
Q How many times were you in the complaining witnesses" drug 55

store previous to that day about how many times? A The

day ofjfthe arrest?
Q Yes.

M
THE COURT: Before' that day?

A Before that day on the 4th, once.
t

Q How did y.ou come to be in the store on the 4th? A Well, ' 'J
the doctor come over to my house 'and he said,

.
"Your brother is

' i
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doctor, "I am happy' to hear that -- ; ay brother "being aiek' for
I (

several months in the hospital, and I begged the doctor on

Ward s Island if he could .- -

THE COURT: Never mind that. He asked you how dLd you
!&- -'

come to go to that store on the 4 tn of August .

BY THE COURT:
vHi

Q tWhy did you go there, he means, on the 4th of August?

m.THE COURT: I suppose that i s wliat you want?

'is'1 '
MR. KIEFER: Yes.

A The complainant sent his son over for me to go to his storey

thathe wanted to tell me sane thing. .

, vj
.

'

--
.

'.;-.- ,- ... ., .

AY MR. KEEPER:
r.! f ' ..""''..'" '

.

Q Who was with you then? A My broth er
i

Q What took place in the store, what occurred? Say what

he said and what you said?
'""BY THE COURT: '''' '"'4 ''!".' '

., - f

;Q who went over with you? A My brother. I had to take care

of him.

Q What did you say and what did they say? A Well-- , hey.

said that we have - we he said "Look, look what somebody Is

sending me", and he showed me a blackmail - letter he said

blackmail, so I looked at it, and it -- was written in Italian.
I knew that my brother could read in Italian and I called him in;

I said, "Come --here, read, this letter." So he read a few lines

of "it and he stopped. I said 'tWhat is the matter?" He said, ?

J

t '
"Hi 1



w
"Bathing , I ion'tikant to rad it"". So the complainant took ci

the letter in his jh and and he explained it to me He said.
ML I
$r "If you don't bring $2,000 at the Bronx Park,"th at they would

kill him and destroy hia property; and in the letter it said.

"If you are afraid to bring the money look for. somebody you

know there"- - in different ways. He said "Look for somebody" -- .,

"Tour friend" "friend", or something. He said something

like that any way".. He explained it to me. so he said, "I want m
to get rid of these people"; he seys, "They are bothering me 4--

too much. He said "I would like-t- o get rid of then and make my isam

wife go and pawn a few articles she has got and sum up some

money so you can bring it over there."

I said "How?"' I said, "Don't you know anybody else

then?' He said, "Ho, only you could do me this favor." I

said, "You have got friends, you know. He said, "Yes, but you

know they are married, and they are Just as afraid as I am. "

So I says, "Don you know I got a sick brother and a mother to

Emtake care of? I said, "How can I ever do you that favor?" So

again he'started saying, "Please do me that fjtvor. I want to get
ft.

rid of them, with tears in his eyes." It broke my heart, knowing

him for ten years, and I said, "I will tell you, I wouldn't do
J

it to-d- ay for you, because I have got to take care of my broth-e- r.

I will try- - to. do It to-morr- ow fo r you.1"1'

R
. So that day weVllet that way. I said, "I will try to, do

it to-mor- row --for you"', and he said to me, "All right, then please- -

do not disappoint." And that is all. the words that was said o
z

' MBBSt
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BY MR. KIEIXR: :. I

Q Wia.t happened the next day, then. The next day, as it
was raining the 4th of August, after we got' through walking

in the park, at the 4th, with my brother, the doctor says that

I should take him out for fresh air. ; . . w.
mZi- -

Q, Now come down to the 5th. What happened on the 5th of '"- ' m
' '

,'-- "

August? A Well, if you don't mind I would like to explain
-

.
-

,

how I come to come in that block agafn, which I never was in

that block. sm
fv

Q Go ahead. A And the. doctor say s-- . you should take him

out for fresh air, so we took a walk in the park, while we

was walking I told my brother if he wanted to get a shave, so

.
S-- :,

he says, "All right". We went in the barber shop across the
.-

-

m street 'from this drug store and he got shaved. While he was
'

.

getting shaved it started to rain. I asked the boss of
t

the barber shop if he could lend me an umbrella, so he says

WI will lend you one, but don't forget to bring it back, he

says, because th at i s th e only one I have got. I says, "I will.

While we were out of the barber shop, on the stoop of the door,

ready to open the umbrella, the son of the complainant tapped me

on the shoulder, he says "Hy father wants you, he wants to tell,
you something. w

As the drug store is across the street I looked right
'-.-

..'. ';'.' '
.

.......
,: . . .

''
isa . over and I saw the complainant making a sign like this ffor me k

MP

IP. '.'.
. . to go over (indicating calling with hand) went over and I . ";



gam

iked tii, "Hbai i yoU'waHtT- - Hee aid, "i have dathifci - n' ,v

jEVti k

tell you", and that i a how .-- "I have aaaething to tell you,"
I

I told you how he showedme the letters.
Now, on the 5th.. On the 5th I said, "I will try to do

lo it the next day." That
"

wsb
...

on the 4th, and on the 5th I tried ;

:Wi
to do the favdr fo r him. It was about tweive 6 olock in the;

IS-- . tHj
paS

afternoon 1 asked my brother if he wanted to come out for fresh.

air and-tak- e a walk and "brace yourself up". He says, "Noj I

don't feel good." SP I kept him, company, and I cheered him up,

because he was down-heart- ed, and about 4 o'clock it reminded me

about the umbrella I said, "That man. wants his umbrella, I
will have to bring it back." I took the umbrella and.walked,

walked on 112th street to the barber shop.,
SKEs

While I was almost going in the barber shop this man called
me again. He said, "You are ready to bring the money over?"

BMJCF -

I laughed at him, I said Maybe somebody is trying to scare

you and tell you something like that." He said "No, no, no,

this ain't the only letter I received, r I received four more

and besides telephones." So I told him, "Why don't you notify

the police?", in slang, the way - your Honor will excuse me---t- he

way it was, he said "I never vjas a stool pigeon and I neveru
will be. " In another different way it means he don't want to

notify the law end he said again, "Won! t you bring thermoney

over?" "Let me get rid of than."
--.HI "But it is better for to theipK'

Ijg Jit,
"-

- .

,. So says., you notify police,

1, k':
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9 I aye,"Well, take it up the way you want."" So he says
"Gome around a little later; my wife will go and hook the arti-

cles, and I will give ; you the money and bring it over to the
blackmailers. H I said, "All right."

t

I brought the umbrella back to the barber ohop where I
was going.- - After I stayed in there I think about ten minutes ?"

talking fith the boss and after the conversation I walked out-

side and he says "All right, come here", and he made the sign.
He said, "Come here." He said "All right, .1 am ready now, I

&''' am ready. ".
&
feV

x
So he gave me the money. When he gave me the money I

said "Wait a while", I soys, "At what time am I supposed to

bring this money to these blackmailers at the Bronx Park?"

He said "About" he said, "At eight o'clock," Well,

Si I says, "How am I to know these blackmailers?"4 "Oh, ".he says,

it is simple, the blackmailer is supposed to have a red hand-"kerch- ief

-- around his neck, and I was supposed to have a red rose
siife on my coat, end I said, "And what must'l tell him?" "Tou must HfB BM

say 'Is this the entrance of Bronx Park, and he would Hay

'Yes , and he would tip off his hat while saying the word Tee. f H

V And that was the party I was supposed to give the money to.
Well, we go back to where when I was all evening with

that conversation, and we finished with the conversation, I was

ready to take anything to fold up the money and go exactly

where he told me; but I turned around to go 0ut the door,
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don't know hiw name

MR. MEDALIE: Panavino. ,

A (Witness continuing) Panavino. He grabbed me from 'the two

aras and he caught hold
.

of me, like this: Ije said, "I got you
' ' w

,
' '

' ''.' '.'-'- , '.

now." I didn't know who it was I turned around to -- look who

it was. So he, as soon as 1 turned around to see who it '

""' ' ' ''.'.", "

was, there, come in come other detective, but I won't sty sure

that it was the second detective that was on this chair t and he

struck me with a - a blow on the head with a black jack

that knocked me unconscious. I was flattened on the floor, and'' V

' .'' .

they picked me up. As soon as I was on .the floor some other
mtr

. A. .

1Sf3$v- -

ff " detectives came in --- -I think there was about four or five,is ..'. '
-

' ' " ."..-'.'- . " .
: ;..

policemen -- -- and they picked me up and I says, "To use cowards!

Why don't youse listen to reason first? That is all you are,

L"- - big brutes", I told them. So he says, "Oh, is that what you

r cail us, co wardo and brutes?" He says, "We will fix you", and
I'XO"

again they begin to hit me on the head, while they were taking

me out to the door. So who come in, he hit me on the head, and 55who come running do vn - CaBsetti , Detective Cassetti. He said,

"Leave go of the boy, what do you want to do , kill him?" "Ah,"

he says, "What good is he living, a person like that? What good

is he living?" . So th ey brought me to the station house . The,.'doctor come and he stitched me up. There we're three cuts on

the head and, one cut in the eye; and I think with four detectives
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. .

Us

detective - r

THE COURT: Never mind that. Go on with your own
j. -

a X

story,

BY MR.KIEFER: .

'
!

A' ,: ,1,' -- :..
'-

- ,. ' .,.' '-- i '...--.'-
..' . 'Jti

vi nave you ever oeen conviciea or arresxea oerorey a do. err
Ml

um yi
w$ Q You aay you know the complaining witness ".for ten years?

A Yes, sir,
-

Q Did you write any of those letters, (indicating Exhibits

1. to 6)?' A Ho, sir.
Q Well, look at them. A Well, what good is looking at them

when I cannot write even, in Italian. I cannot write in Italian;
ft You say that the complaining witness showed you some

let'.ter8? A- - Yes, sir,
Q And you had-you- r brother read it? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you know who wrote these letters? A

'
No, sir,'." ..' .

:

Q Did you ever call up the. drug store on the telephone at

any time? A No, sir. h j:fei ''h
aiQ Did you ever threaten him in any way? A. No, sir,

T, . .,.,tfgl i. -- vv,-. .'...- -

.--j

GROSS EXAMINATION BY MB. MEDALIE: u;,,

Q Wtiat is the none of the piano facto ry where you are woik- -
' ' " ''' ''.' ' ' '

. .
' :

ing? A Shubert1 s, .

Q How long did you work there? A Over a year.

Q Steady? A Oh, steady and not steady. Since the 4th

of July we worked three days a week.
ftts,vcri
KXiv :''. q And it just happened then on the day you wer-- e arrested youifca

fflKWS
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'- -y'

.

PiT-
-

fc ''",," tr; tr aut sf work? A , y uncle used, to tll wh thre M w
was work. Supposing there was work, we are supposed to work te- -

day, he might say Oome Wednesday ", "Come Friday" - I wouldn't
'

' mL..
.

.' '
'

r
"

. know vhat days I was supposed to come.

Q Well, on the day or your arrest you were .no t working? ;
.

''A No, sir..- -

''"-..-
' ."

li. Q, On the day before your arrest you were no t working? A Nof
' k4sir '

..

'
, . :' "'''" ' ' 'M

Q Were you working at any time that week? A No, sir.
Q Nor the week before? A Yes, sir.
Q, How many times the week before? A Three days

Q What days were those? A On Monday '- -'I think on Tues--
Cl .tv day -- - I mean on Wednesday; on Friday. Friday is pay day.

E"-t-
"

Q You have given your rigit name , of course? A Yes, sir..'.''.., .

Q Of course, you could not read? You cannot read It alien?

A No, sir.
Q And the canpiaining witness, .the druggist, knows you

'..
lev
SHP pretty well, is that right? A Yes, sir.

fce -

Q He knows you cannot read? A I don't know about that. He

knows me, but .he ''don't know my business about school.

, Q He does not know that about you? A No.
;. : .'"'. '

Q Well, during the last ten years that he knows you did
'

','-.-
.

,. .

- '.
. '.. '. .. .' '.'

'

, you go to school4 during that time? A Certainly, i
Q Very much or very little? A Well, I can't say much and I

can't say little. l.

'

.
.'

-

J-.-

'

Q Well, do you suppose he sent for you from the; drig store
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y Jut to re4.the letters? A Ma, air; They trapped ae,
&' '

ft To threaten you? A, Tea, sir.
Q To trap you? A To trap y ou,

nBsBeHMBH
ft He wanted to pi something Well

it looked,
4

r

Q Tour brother read some of .the letters? A A few lines.
Q Then there were a number .of letters? A A number?

ft Ther.e" were five letters? A Five letters, well
i t,A- -

&...

ft From what your brother read you know what the letters con-

tained,

yM
jSjt X

&$$

is that right? A Prom what my brother read? tm,ki&i 3s
i-

-, i
',,

Q Yes., you knew what is in the letters? .' A Not in the
letters; ln one letter,

Q And that is the letter that said, "Go up to Bronx Park"?

A Bronx Park

Rfvp .

A That is the letter which said, "Dear Pharmacist"

AExcuse me. There is1 the heart, and stabs and everything,

mT
Weft That is the letter, that is the way I go,

Q This is the one, the one with the artistic work on.it?
?Sf -

'A Yes.
It

k Q That is the letter, you; heard your-broth- er read it? A He
if

reaa-- a rew woras or it.
Q Let me see if y ou remember the words: your memory is pretty

good, isn't it? A I do not say it is pretty good,

ft Well, it is a fair memory? A Well, I couldn't say. You can .4

forget a lot,
Q But you remember moat; of thethings that happened? A In ' 1

w
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"& '

I ''.",""" ?g'41'

Italia, explained in Mi Italia. I ea?ti UA4ergtlJHM4i,
. i .

Q Is this High Italian? A It ia High Italian.
r c

Q See if you remember, V Well, I will try,

Hi,
Q He read the first letter, is that right? A Not read it

all -- -- a few lines of it. '

ffi &

Q Of the first letter? A Sure. '.'.'
Q And it said, "Dear Pharmacist: Do not be alarmed if we

ask you for the sun of $2,000", is that right?, A I know

the $2,000 was in it - I don't know about the "Pharmacist".

Q It. is because we need. it. ' We do not want to repeat it a
' "m

;S
e second. time, because it will be worpe for you." Tou remember;

s&-
-

Wl his reading that, don't you? If you don't remember, say so?
.'a- - j

A Well, I would like to say the truth. I would not. like to
H1-- '.

remember it or not remember. '

Q That is what I like about you. Go on and tell us whether
HE

you remember it or not. A Well, I think at $2,000 he stopped.
W"iHb --4

Q Let us see if you remember this: Didn't he read about

going to Bronx Park? A The letter was no t read at all, it was

explained to me.

Q Tell us what he explained to youab out going to Bronx Park?

A He said "If you don't bring $2ip00-tha- 't they would kill him

and destroy his. place. -

Q Tftiere was themoney to be brought, that is what I want to

know? A At the Bronx Park.
fSKl:' Q That is what Mr. Mirendi explained to you? A To me?
lM -- Ei0iJM

Q And your brother? A To me he explained it.
fcSNtji
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--. v-- -. p-fl- w uoi-r-r a y .oro ner wm thr.
Q MdVyaa: brother had this letter in hi a h4? A No,

I

'
the ooaplaiaant

'
had the letter in hiB hand.

. .
.

"
'

.-

- .' '
'

'.
. '..;. ' .' ,-l"- '.:

'- -

Q, Did he give it to your brother to read? A. Yes, sir.
Q And the complaining witness, Hirendi, explained that the

money waSpto be brought to Bronx Park? A My brother had the ,

le Her and when he don't want to read it, any more I asked what

,ffwae the matter, and he said "Nothing, I don't want to read it
. if ".. .

' '"..any more.", Mr, Hirendi, the complain ant" took the letter in

his hands, he folded it up and put it back in the envelope. -- pj!

t. $
k

:.

f
'

: ....''..'.8 . '."''. "

.' m
arig explained it,

Q He explained that. the money was to be brought to Bronx
m Park that sane night, is that right? Or some night? A It

was to be brought to Bronx Park the way he said it. you could',...'"" i
gsEa

see whether it was a frame-u- p.

Q You saw that right away? A No , I didn't. After I got

trapped I saw the way it was.

Q What did Mirendl tell you the letter required should be

done, about bringing the money to Bronx Park? A To Bronx

FHPark, and. that was all
Q What time A The next day; he did not say the time,

Q But what I want to know is the second day when he gave you

the money, where were you to bring the money? A tAt Bronx Park''"'.'" ' '

.
'

'
.

he said.'' '' ' ' f"

Q You were just about to put the money in your pocket and

.turn around to walk out, weren't you? A No.
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Q . (Continuing) Whn the police oaugfet you? A ,Ks4 1

. gave me the Money -

Q Mow, listen, I am going to remind .you, you were kind

fei' enough to talk slow, ao that I could get this do wi in writing, 'em
"

V WI was ready to fold up the money and go, I turned around to

the door when Panavino pulled myarnein behind my back0" - A

Excuse me just one question -- --

Q Now, my dear friend, you must listen. A No, but after
you can make me listen the whole day. You said it was at the
time, ray brother had the letter in his hand, what time was I

. supposed to bring the money, if he explained it in the letter.
Q I got through with that and we were talking about the next

-

' day. A No, that is where you were talking when he took the

letter in his hand. He didn't tell me no time then.
nS-".- Z

Q No, let us talk about the day you were arrested. What

did he tell you to do with that money? A To bring it over to

Bronx Park.

Q At what time? A Oh.,- - when I got the money, at eight

o'clock. ,
'

h.

lit r 55
BIN Q That same night? A .ThaVsame night.. '

Q, The $11?A He didn't say no eleven dollars. He didn't
ft1 give me no eleven, he gave me money.

Q It was not a big roll of bills, was it? It was not a very

big roll of' bills? A Weir, thatrcouldbe $100 bills inside, for
AXall I know. f

Q Well, I know, but you saw on the top a one .dollar bill rai3W
.5viv f- i- 3"
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. . .A1. 1 At l-j- .a ji-- i i-j-in W .' -': you saw en tne uoos & one aoxxar oiur a aow COUIQ. x see
'

1 Jiff io- -
it on the bottom when they were folded

Q This way. A Yes.

Q Couldn't you tell it was all one dollar .hills? A No, on

o the top you could tell it was one dollar.
Q Didn't you think that that was mighty little to send up

to the blackmailers at Bronx Park? A I don't know, "because he ' V
9

; w3r

dldn'd say he was going to give me the $2,000 simply that his
wife was going to pawn and try to sum up as much as he could.

Q You took the money he gave you and you were going to go

,-:-
W

, out and take it to Bronx Parknat eight o'clock? A At eight

o'clock.
m

. Q And just as you were leaving the store Panayino caught
"

you? A Panavino caught me.

Q' You hadthis money and you were putting it in your pocket
'and going out? A Folded it and put it in my pocket.

Q In other words you business with Mirendi was finished that

day? A That day.
iiiiih .IHI Aifl

Q At that moment you did not know'howmuch money you were

bringing to the blackmailers? A No.

Q And you never asked Mirendi how much money he was giving

you? A No.

Q Aid Mirendi never told you how much money he was giving

you. did he? A No,

p--j Q And you didi't remark to him that that" was a very small

sum to give the blackmailers in Bronx Park? A No, sir.
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Q Teu felt that Mifendi wm trusting you, with a let ef
-

.-

-

.

:

' ''.-.- ' '.,'' ' '" M
eney, didn't you? A Wo, That he was trusting me with a

,

"
. .'''.'"'-'- . ""$

lot or money?
? w.
m&
E-rl'- - Q Toe. A Well, I suppose so. . , ,

.
3

Q, How much money did you suppose at the time he was giving!!
you to give to the blaotonailers in Bronx Park? A I couldn't $M

itP
tell you. ,

',''': '"'. '
.

; 4M
'

.
. :

- .... '
; a

Q Don' t you know that thpse letters that your brother was

shown said that the money was to be brought on Sunday "night at
. -

half past twelve to Bronx Park? A He didn't explain that
half past ten at the Bronx Park.

Ars
Half past twelve'? A Half past twelve that Sunday.

Si
Q Hot ,a word about that? A No, sir. .

Q On the first day did he tell you whom to see? A No,sir.
Q Did he tell you to look for the blackmailers to find dtit

who they are?. A No, sir, he just said, he just says, "I will
try to do the favor to-morr- ow, by bringing the money to the

blackmailers.

Q Weren't you afraid? A He gave me courage. He said "They ED
wouldn't bother you, you are. small, they wouldn't - "

Q, And the 'day before when he 'told you that- - he nearly broke

your heart
'

, i s that right, that- - i s what made you do it? A That.'" " '

.-

-. : -
.

I

is what made me do it -"-frien- dship.

Q Did you go into his drug store often?, A Certainly I
came into his drug store. sl S jf--- .

r
--A.m

Q. You never bought cocaine in his drug store? A I did.
---

m

I"V
,-
-

?f Ff"
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jse ft r nfewi, fryorf A JTari ;:.y
" ft Tou used cocaine? A I uad the cocaine j I oawnot deny :M

CM

.' '. '."''. '''. .
' '

ru
,-

-,

ft When did you atop using it? A Since I was up here.
rLfXm

ft When? A Since my arrest.-- .

fw

ft Oh, only since yo ur arrest yo u have used jcocaine? A No,;

I stopped it. ,M

ft How long did you use it before? A Well, I couldn't tell' '.'81:.:!
you how long, but I used it.

Q How often? A Well, very often,
ft About? Just give us an idea. A How can I give you when

I

I ain't sure.
Hk
MM .;'

,Q About once a week? A. No Ipcan',t say. '1

,. ft Once a day? A I c.oul'dn't answer that question. Very
-- -

.

often,--.-I told you. ,

.
Q A couple of times, a week? A I couldn't tell you.

ft Once a week? A I couldn't say once a month, or anything.

I am just saying, very often. If can1 be four times a week, it
can be once a week, and it can be once a month, it can be once

a year or twice a year or three hundred and sixty-fiv-e' times a

year.

ft Is it more than once a year?

BY THE COURT:

ft In your case j he means, how often did you use it?
BX MR. MEDALIE: jI

Q Tqu yourself, how often have you used cocaine? A Kiat M
?m



p T" vi('W' Tyou,
waat Me to sy? 3 fWW

wv Q The truth? A Very often.

. Q How often, once a month? A Once a month? 4
t

Q At least once a month? A Why, no.
'-

-J1

M

m
Q At least once a: week? A Certainly, about; yes, air;

about that.
Q And possibly twice a week? A No. m

--? S-- ji

Q But at lqast once a week? A About once, yes.

Q What di dyou pay for. cocaine every week? A What do I
pay? A little twenty-fiv- e cents worth.

"3s3;
"--

Q And you snuffed it? A Not' all, Just to keep it. rv
. i.sj

m..--

f&' Q To snuff it up through your nose? A That's right.

$;'- -
Q Where did you learn how to take cocaine? A I learned it,

I saw a boy. i

5V. t
t: Q, In the street? A In the street, and he was doing that, so
IV. H

, fc. I said, "let me seeH, and he says, "Take that, it is good for
your cold", so I took it and it made me all excited. I didn'.t EMknow where I was, I was drunkJTIke.m

Q You did not use that ihr the piano factory? A No.

Q You did not learn it there,, did you? A No.

Q, Where didyou work at when you learned it? A 116th street
and Third avenue, Second and Third avenues.

Q How ab.out the barber shop on 112th street, right opposite

Mirendl's place? Did you hang out there very much? A Oh, when

I used to get my hair out.
m

Q Where didyaulive? A 351 East.U8th street.
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V" , . (X.
l Art there mix barker shops on llStk street? A That is r 2Su1

'

if:.j Oil I

Q How did you happen to go to this barber? A My uncle

gets a shave there.
w jjxovo u iaeo i your ix-iunu-s laefur a mo xriena.8T.nere

TiHiMW ...

Q The barber la. a friend of, your uncle's. Is that the idea?
' '..',...'. ..

' ' .'-':.'-

.''" "" C&H&iK
. ... . . .

' '
.-

-;'

.i --r i v-- - " ".' -- ' -- ". -
-- . '. .V-f- Wa wen, x aon" x, say neis a in ena or my unce, dux ne. is nis"

vSmB

barber.
Q, ' You get shaved there? A I get shaved there.
Q You do not shave very much, do you? A And hair cut. '

Q And meet your friends there? A No friends. 'r

fire.
Q Haven t y ou got any friends at 112th street? A Not on

HBjr"- -

HBltl-- ' 112th. ,

Q Thereabouts. A 116th street end Third avenue.
: Iff Q That is as. near as you come to 112th, to visit friends,

is that right? You do not get to 112th straet except to go to .

this barber? A To this barber. ' 131
? Q That is the only reason for going there? A And for the

cocaine.

Q Well, now, the barbery is right opposite Mirendi s, your- -

'
- "'." ;'. ,''-.- .

uncle is a friend of the barber? A Welljl ain't saying he is a

friend.
lip--- ' Q Knows him pretty well? A Well, a customer there, I

suppose he must know, him pretty well.

Q Your 'brother can read Italian? A Can read' in Italian as

far as I know.



it;' ' Jfcltt Italia? A Tea, -- air. " f5. , ' v;

pf . Q 0 an your unole read Italian? A Tea, sir. ' (,jE f r
It Q Oaa your unole write Italian? A Tea. sir --iMjSS- SSSS

fe Q Can the barber read Italian? A' Well. I don't know his 'ilSP
'". ""... .--- '--' . .

--KnK.f't - . .. ..
--aHMT

business ab cut reading and writing; I know his business about -

'VSBM
barber, that is all I know. '.... ,.

Q How often did you meet your friends on 116th street with

whom you snuffed cocaine? A On Saturday.

Q Is that the only time? A The only time.

Q So every time you met them and snuffed cocaine, is that
t

v ? 9

right? A Well, I suppose, so. jr
Q, Do you know Morelli? A I never heard of tilt name..

, Q Never heard of Nick Morelli? A No, sir. -- I

S4i;:A- -

Q, Doesn't everybody in Harlem, in Little Italy know Nick ,

MSrfcj

BSHSeiV

Morelli? A Well, maybe they do, but I don't know.

Q Tou didn't have anythingto do with him? A No.

Q,. And you didn't hear about him from your friends on 116th
ifilli. street with whom you snuffed cocaine? A. No, sir, I hang out

with American boys.

Q (Jan you give me". a good reason why the complaining witness

should invent this story about you? A Yes, sir.
Q .Now, give me the reason. A Because I was very sick

of this cocaine and I used to buy the cocaine there, and he

said "Tell allf the boys that I sell the cocaine too." So I

says SA11 right, I will tell them." I used to tell the boys

and everything. Well i ton ally one day a fellow used to workUfn'
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i wrt, factory In the varnish department, an he u4 te IB m
111 lt(uh it - finally one day I heard that he was dead, and that

this drug store used to sell it to hira, this Hirendi. You say

"How do you know?" Beoauee he was working wth me and I use"d :H --
''

to find out.

Q . Herused it in the factory? A In the factory, I couldn-- ' 1
ul '

tell you. I never saw him use it in the factory.
Q He is one of your friends on 116th street? A No, sir, he

fei?

is a friend going to work, and I supposed that was why.

Q Because sanebody else died from cocaine he was going to

liMliii! hve you sent to prison? A Ho, because he was afraid of me

BBN inforraingthe police that he used to sell cocaine,
X'

Q Ifell, you did not notify
4

the police? A No. 1

Q You didn't tell him you were going to notify the police?
A But in his mind -

iffi!liSlfe- -

Q Will you be kind enough to tell me whether you ever

threatened him to tell the police that he was selling cocaine?
A No, sir.

Q So far 4as you know you have no reason to believe that?
he was afrad of you, from what you know? A Sir?

IP Q, You njver threatened him? A Once I went in there snd I
War. says, "How can you get this habit away?" I told him, ,"I an

tired of this habit, you want to do a one thing for me and see

how I can get away from this habit." He says, WI can do you

nothing." I said, "You ain't a druggist man - couldn't you .trK5t . i
iijgH: j5t notify me some place?" He said, "This ain't my 'drug store, I
fc--



JKtx& have got it underunder aa differdifferenten naae, see?"--.

'--

."' '"& .JhR" --jK '
)

Hi: QQ YouYou nevernever toldtold himhim youyou iwe're going to go to the polide? A 'JR' .

No., sir
'Wi '

Q Aid you never did go to the police? A No, air,
Q You never threatened to do him any harm? A No, sir.
Q. So he didn't know thatyo u had anything jaagain at him,

did he? A I suppose he did.
. -- ,.-

- : W---- '

1C4
'

.(

Q Wellj did you say anything that led him to believe that
you had anything against him? A Yhy, I told him that I was

dying from the- - stuff - -- "Tou have to tell me how to get rid of
' ? '':.-- -

. f

this stuff."
' Q Well, you are not. dying? A Well, now I ain't; I ain't

&
dying, because I got took care, of up here.

mmmp

dtt- -

Q He di d not send to your house for you, di d he? A No.R,:
KtS;,iSi Q He just happened tosee you in the drug store --' in the

barber, shop across the street? A Barber shop. '..
Q He sent his little boy for you, that is the only way he

saw you in connection with this case, is that right? A Yes.
Ai Jb H

Q He did not call at your house himself? A No, sir.;
Q He never sent anybody up to your house so far as you

know?A Now
.

- -

' '

,

-
. ...'

Q An d if it was not for t he ac ci den t 0 f y0 ur b eing at th at

barber shop the day before you were arrested, he might neyer

have seon you? A Maybe. The way that officer said he marked

the bills, the dollarflbills there, two days before my arrest,

don't you see they htfi it marked out already the way they iwre



. i
go fee to trap Me up. m

- 0(Q Ere before they saw you they had you in mind? A Well;-th- e

l-- H

way they make claims theremy?

Q Before they even knew you would be on 112th street they

had it already to put it on you? A Well, theyway they marked

out I know, by the way they say. I osn't say . -- --

b
F Q How about Panavino, what did he have against you? A The ."CJ&

first one?

Q The first one, that is right? A Nothing.

Q You don't know him? A I don't know him at all.
--

;'pS
Q How about De Martini, what did he have, against you? A Ndth4

-- .J
$" ing; I don't know him at all 1

re
Q But what Panavino says is false? A He 1.

Q You heard Panavino yesterday testify against you? A Well,

half is true and half is false
Bs

sr Q The part where you said that you took the whole re sp on si-bil- ity

for this is false? A Yes, aid when he said that I tapped

him on the shoulder, that is all false, and mentioned a tine
which he was not supposed to mention ra' Q Why wasn't he supposed to mention it? A Beaause the way

they figured it out if I don't give away on same body I get

found guilty, End if I don't give way on them I get found guilty

Just the sane Don't you see, the money holds me, the way they

figure that the money holds me for oonviotion and then -

Q Now, tell me about De Martini, did he have anything

against you that you know about? A No, sir
f
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4 T never saw him before, did you?' A JTo, air.
Q Wtay did he make this up about you? A What?

Har. 3

IB Q Do you know why he should make this up about you? A No , sir,
Q Just to help Mirendi put you in a trap, so that two days

4hflfora. nil "!. t.Vi... P riv Viflf rrro .V enr aaw in V Vi .!, nw u ';'- -- . w " "-- w o wuo ucuuu t1 "v v jw aiuy fcffl

they deoided to mark bills and put than in your pocket? A Well-- ,

this was true through Oassetti. . V

Q He is the man that put it. on you? A Yes, sir
h- -

Q Do you know Oassetti? A I know? him.

Q Howdo you know him? A I know him,

Q. How? A Well,people showed me, "There is. Detective Oa-

ssetti."

Uf

Q Everybody in Little Italy and Harlem knows Officer C as--
.

setti? A I don't know if they do or-not- .

Q Well, you knew him? A I knew him,

Q, He was pointed out by friends of yours on 116th street?
A Yes, on 116th street.

Q ' They were afraid of him? A I suppose so.
&p-s- ,

Q Some of ytjur friends have been in prison, haven't they?

A No.
t

Q Sure? A Certainly. ...
Q Why should they have any grudge against Oassetti? A They

A

I
mm-m- --"' 1

didn't have no grudge. They Just said "There is Oassetti

that frames up everybody. "

Q So ho framed up you? A Yes, sir, "he did.

Q Aid Acting O&ptain Jones, did he frame you up too? A



Brwgyppygi

Oaptaia Jonas? Swp

Q Tea, he had the bills marked, you know. A I don't know

if he did or not.
i

Q Nobody pointed him out to you' in the street? A No, sir. 'kfiS
AQ But they pointed'out Oassetti. That is where you believe

Oassetti Joined in a conspiracy to ruin your Jife, is that -

,'. f

right? A I suppose so, -

Q But you never did Oassetti any harm?

MR. KIEFER: No evidence of a conspiracy by the police
to ruin that boy.

v&

it 4 MR. MEDALIE: There i s by the canplalnant, the

defendant says here. I admit that it is ,not evidence,

but the defendant says so. .
,

, , .Jll II u lluHIH c f IW- - I.

MR. KIEFER: You say so. -

MR. MEDALIE: No, I don't the defendant says so.

, Q You never had any business wilh Oassetti? A Once that I
remember.- -

171,Q Now, come on. A I was standing in 116th street. He

says, "What do you do for a living?" I said, "None of your

business," I dith 't know who it was. He said, "You are a

little snot nose."' I said, "Who are you, anyhow?" He says,

?Never mind who I an, move." I says, "I can stand over here

and don't bother nobody, can'tI?" He said, "No, you can't

stand here"; so he scys, "Move, or I will giveyou one in the i
'jaw." That is the way he is supposed to be great, but it is all
ft

St--
H frame up, you know. Do you know' vhat he le? He has a character

9



pya , mtArtarat' mmn.M 'w m ki graft frMi yaw A Je, be grafted from people;
HBUr Q Did your friends tell you that on 116th street? A Well, 'Hi ICM I

HfSV I flatd' out now.

Q yrora your friends? .A Froa ny friends.
Q Now, listen .to me. He made you" move off the" block,1 dldn't jiaiim

--try r 'SSKBMIM

-

he? A Yes,

Q He made you get off the oorner? A Tee,

Q Made you and your friends walk? A Tee.

Q Now you remember that? A Tea, sir. i

J

Q, You didn't think 6f it before, but you know that now !

i

he chased your friends off the block too, didn't he? A No, he

fc chased me, just me.

Q Picked you out from ' the whole crowd? A No, there -- was
' '

nobody there at all. I was waiting for one of my friends
Q And he made you get off the corner? A Made me get off

the corner. GT

Q That corner is sometimes an unsafe place, isnlit -- -- 116th

street and Third avenue? A Between Second and Third?
5" Em

Q Yes, when the gang is there? A I don't think so.

Q There is no gang there?" A ,No, I never bothered nobody

ever bothers anybody there.

J Q Is that the only place where you meet your friends? A That

is the only place.
'& 4

C No saloon? A Never went to a saloonV

Q. No barber shop? A Barber shop? A Yell, once in a while-- I

Hk

meet somebody, customers, at the barber shop and I talk to

than.



WffFPIwi ? & HitJa strwt?? AA V,V, sir;sir; . m I

Q. In other words, your friends go to a different barbarI 1P IO( . ,

HP lahop than you do? A I suppose so .'KLL w

Q" And there is no plaoe in door's where you meet then, is,

that right? A No, sir.
Q Not a single plaoe? A Not a plaoe. In the candy store; 'ci?isjHpS

'';ifflH

Excuse me, there is a candy, store on 116th street
-- 'tS59m

Q 116th? A 116th street m d Third avenue.
' 'jSp'SP I

'

.' Q That is where the gang hangs out? A It ain't no gang, v3r

"

everybody is working.

Q Tour friends? A Friends, I meet them there when I want to

meet then, because I live a different block and I have to go

there.
Q Well, you never gave Mir endi the impression that you

were connected with blackmailers, did you? A Never.

Q So that he did not pick you out for that reason, ' did he?

"A No. .

Q The only reason he picked you out was to do you harm? A EM
To do me harm.

Q Did the druggist tell you about receiving word over the

telephone, who the man was that you were to give the money to?

?V A No j sir.
1 WIW,p

9 t

RE-DIR- ECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIEPER:

Q Did he talk to you about a telephone at all, a telephone

call at all? A No, he just simply mentioned, "I reooived a

telephone M.

's.
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the boy
"

thai disil from caine.
"

that you..aerie eft rm
A Solly.

. Q Where did he live? A. 326 East 113th street.
Q Did yo u know him at all? A I know him from the shop

m
where he was working.

Q Do you know another boy up there by the name of "Crazy"?'" ' '

'."- -
'

'
'

'--

' K8 "' ;

A Joe? '

Q.Yes. A Yes, sir, I knew him. '.-'.- ''

Q Are thqr patrons, do you know, of the drug store?

MR. MEDALIE: I object to that. He camot attack""
,'0

the credibility ofthewltness collaterally. i-Jfi-
rt

THE COURT: objection overruled.

Q Do you know whether they bought cocaine of this druggist?

A Yes, they buy it there.
'

i
- f - '

BY THE EIGHTH JUROR:'" ''
' ' :;" '

'..' -

;.,! Q Did Mirendi tell you that he pawned sane jewelry to
ggppiK

raise that money? A No, he just said that "I will send my wife

to pawn sane jewelry and then sum up the money and bring it over
h',B -- H

there."
MR. KIEFER: I , would like to call --the druggist b son,

I Bee he is outside. I do not know his name, J. never talked.
'--

.''".

' '.- - '' .'.'.to him.
'

'.
: . ,

PRANK M,I R END I, called as a witness, not sworn tes--T
tifies as follows:

EXA1INED BY THE COURT:
r ' '.'Q How old aro you? A Eight and a half



,TTC - If! f A vrv?
BBP;3WF

(The Court directs that the witness be not alreSH
i . .

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ECEJTR:

Q What did you mother say to you Just now?

Objected to. Objection sustained.
Q Did you ever see this "defendant here before? A Only onoeJsl
Q Where did you Bee him that time? A In the drug store.
Q Did you go out on the Btreet and call him in? A No.

Q Are you sure about that A Yea.

Q Wn at did you do? A Nothing.

Q What time of day was it, do you know? A No.

Q Who else was in the store with you at that time? A -- Only

me and my mother.

Q, Your father was not there? A Yes.

Q Your father was there? A Yes.

Q What did your father say to you about this defendant?

A No, sir.
Objected to. Objection overruled.

Q Well, how long did this defendant stay in the store? A I
e

forget.
Q, Was it raining that day? A No.

Q It was not raining? A No.

THE COURT: If you --change your f irBt question I will
allow it.V

BY THE COURT:
t t

Q Did your mother say anything to you just now? A' No.
siBBBm

BY MR. KIEPERj Q, When you oeme across from your mother Just
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f

M;-.lM- f or;, doming V'c the'witnB ataf t - 3 ?P y HH 'Hi f

THE COtRT: Ho did not oome across with his mother.
rsr BY THE qoiRT:

Q Did yiour mother speak to you since you wereoalled to

the witness at end? A No

F E R D I N AND C 0 LOR A (351 East 118th- - street) ,. called: iglfflaMU . :

as a witness in behalJf of defendant, "being fix it duly sworn,
.' --

' ''.". "'
. P .

'

t oUsE v

testifies as follows:
" - -- x

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIEPER:

Q You are the brother of the defendant? A Yes , sir.
!

Q "fere y u with him on the 4th of August, in the afternoon 1
1

of this year? A Yes, sir.
Q Will you state to the court, at that time, were you at

112th street with, him? A Yes, sir.
u. "''.. . .

Q What occurred at that time? A Me and my brother, we was
$K- -

Jiome, and by the doctor's orders I had to go out to get some

fresh air, so he took me around the park. After a while he

asked me if I wanted to get a shave and I said yes. We went

over to the barber and I got' a shave. After that it started in

to rain, jwe got the, lend of aTumbrella off the barber, and

mj' we went, outsi de and while toe were going home the son that -

' '
' " "

I : .'' ;.
' '

little boy down there, of the druggist, he called my brother
'

I ''.' '

"'"'" '
'

.

' '"." '.'' ".'
'

nd he says, 'My father wants to see you. " So we turned around
'-)-

-.

' '

,
. . ; '

. ; ',
.

'.... .
.

'. ..

land the druggist made a sign to my brother to go over there, so'

W brother went in there and I stood' outsi de' because I was kind
' - 'v '' ' '"

'. .'" ''
,



oc "-'- '-a

of iek and. I didn't hardly, you know notioe the people, and KM

after a while my brother came out and he called me, he Bays, "Cone

Mi !"""c
on in." I went in. there and the druggist, he let me see a

letter, he said, "Read that letter." I got the letter and I

read it, and I couldn't hardly understand everything that was

said in there, but it said if he was afraid to bring that money

to Bronx Park to send Bomebody that he knew. So he said to my,

brother, he says, "You are a good friend of mine, he says, "I

know you are the only one that can do this favor for me." So my
!&

brother says, "How can I do you that favor, I have got my brother
i ?3

here with me?" So he says, "No, you have got to-d- o me this

favor." And he started in to cry, aid he said like this: "I

will do anything as long as they cHeave me alone." He says,

"You go.up to those people and try to find out who are those

people." So my brother, after he Baid, Tlaybe eomebo $r is try-in-g

to fool you, don't minf about those letters."
So the druggist said, "No, this ain't the first letter

that I received; I received about four or five letters." So

my brother says like this to him, he said, "If I hear anything

H will be too glad to tell you", arid that was all and we went

out.

Q Had you been ili up to that, time? A Yes, sir.
Q Where were you during your illness? A In a hospital. --

Q .Where is the hospital? A Ward's Island.

tyj How long were you there? A About tftree otr four months.

QjWhat did you do after that, after,thrs letter was read, what



li d y u do? A W went howe !"

";
Wi'"V

y.v
lj Ttere yo u ever convicted of a crime? A No, s;lrV i

. .

' '''. f c

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MED ALIE: .
3

V's
'H

Q You 8 1 arte d from your home on. 118th street for a walls? r

A Yea,' air, '
-

-- -:-; .

Q You were going to the.Park? A To get some fresh air i

Q And then so muoh time was wasted in the barbershop and
"

in Mirendi' s drug store that you went home? A Yes, sir,
Q So you did not go to the park because too much time had

lim

been taken, up already? A No, we did go to the park.

Q Oh, yoii were coming from the park? A We were coming, ,

mk

It was in the park that my brother asked me if I wanted- - to get ,

lif- -

15 -

a shave,

ilfe Q Tell me Just what Mirendi asked your. brother to do?

A Because he knew him, he knew, him as a friend,
ft.

K: '.'. Q No, I didn't ask you that. What did Mirendi ask your .'

551brother to do? A He asked him --to do the favor to try to find

out those people for him,

Q Your brother was to find out who these people were?

A Yes, sir, f

Q What was your brother to, do to find out who these people
1 Iqy

were? A He was supposed to go to this Bronx Park,

Q And what vas he to do In Bronx Park? A To talk to those

people, to tell than to leave him alone, he is only a poor man, v,

mm
and all that.. n

,-A-

-m

Q Your brother didn't know who these people were? A No, sir--.
Mik.
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Q, How wm he to find, out w&6 thee people were? A' Beeeiise

they were to make a sign I don't know what they, were going te

have, either a Handkerchief or a rose and they wer'e to tip their

hat; somebody was to tip their hat

Q And that is how your brother was to find out who they were?, A

A Yes, sir.
Q Your brother after finding out who they were was to tell. fill;3

Mirendi, is that right? A What they said, yes, sir
Q To see what he could. do to avoid paying them? A Yes, sir.

r

Q So that he would not have to pay- - them? A Yes, sir.
; "

Q, Your brother was to help Mirendi-fwh- o the people were?

A Yes, sir.
yA

Q And thai get affer them? A I don't know about that, the

getting after them.

Q But whenyou were there with your brother, Mirendi asked

your brother to go to Bronx Park, meet these people, find out
G&Z.ar

who they were and then go back and tell Mirendi? .A Yes. When

my brother waB going to go to this Bronx Park

ftife alQ, Ho, no, what did Mirendi ask him and vhat did Mirendi

m' say to your brother vhen you were there, not when you were not

there? A When I was there, that is the only thing, that is
the truth what I tell you j

Q .That your brother was to g t.o Bronx Park and speak to

these people, is that right? A Yes, sir.
Find out who they were? A, Yes, sir

Q What they waited, come beck, is that right? A Yes, sir



r.,i
7 P7 ref , jy."', rSr tv

-- ,4 1 jtad tell XlrciULi Hi the Mirendi would try U oeaneeV

with the police and see what could be -- done to oatch the? A Tea

Q la that right? A Tea, air. My brother told Mr. Mlrendi r
to notifly. the police and he said that he didn't .want to have

nothing .to. do with the police; he said WI never snitched on t--sm

anybody ". "V
''

. U '. :
Q But still your brother was to come back and tell Mirehdi --

so

-- s5

Mirendi could go to the police any how? A Yes.

Q Now, that you are sure about? A Yes, sir.
Q You are not mistaken about that? A No, sir.
Q You are certain about that? A Yes, sir.

i-j- t.

?? T
wf
&f Q That is all that was said at that time? A That ia . allm '

that waB said, and I don't know nothing about it.
rat Q And your brother was to go that night to Bronx Eark?
s;lfc.

A Not that night. My brother says,' "I will be too glad to tell
you, What happened after that I don't know.

Q Was your brother to come back to Mirendi the next day?

A' I guess so.

Q, Did Mirendi tell your brother to come back to his shop

the next day? A Well, of course, he must have told him that.
Q Well, you heard him? A I don't know it.

Q When you were there what waa said about your brother seeing

Mirendi again nothing? A Well, about what happened the

next day I dpn't know nothing.

Q No, I am not talking anout.the next day. After your

brother and Mirendi got through talking about your brother going iJLllifeilJillI3



j

.? IHMW7SSw'BWW ..ji.. raHl'iMI i i 'in --
i ; --SSii f mWftr-lfurPari-

r, Tufe" w y'our TfiftftKi the
night? A I don't know

Q Nothing was said about that? A I don't know, "because I -- c

didn't want to hear anything else
( ;

Q You can read Italian prettyfwell? A Tea.
. , o

, ,

Q An?d;Hirendi showed you the 'letter? A Yes.
1

ij
Q What time that night was' your "brother to go to Bronx

Park, eight o'clock, or eleven o'clock or five? A I couldn't

tell you, I don't know.

Q, You read the letter, didi't you? A Not all of it. Why, he

seen that I couldn't hardly read it.
mS i Q, Iid you read this part of it, "To-iaorr- ow' night at half -- past,

twelve a. m. , take the money with you to Bronx Park"? A That fz

ain't the one.

Q What? A That-i- s not the one that I read.
Q I show you People's Exhibit 1, read the beginning of the

Zetter and tell me if you remember reading that letter? A The

letter that I read had a hand stamped on the heart.
Q It had a hand and a heart and a lot of pictures? A It

was printed on, yes,
It "

8 Q I show you People's Exhibit 1, has that got a hand and a

heart and a few daggers? A Yes.

Q Well, that is the letter you read? A No, the letter I

readt I think, was right on top.

Q I show you People's Exhibits 1 to 6; I ask you to look

at all of those letters and tell me which oftha so letters the js
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-f. . . , i. ..v; - --s?gyj.,'f . ,'w,;yv ( iV, y

eaplaaniiig witi Mir en 11 ihowei.jjryou? A I cw't find, hatf
'...

letter here.
Q You have examined all of the six letters that I have shown

you, including Exhibit
'

1 that has got the'-

-
piature of a hand;' ' '..''"'heart and several daggers? A That is one letter that I read

,v f.
,

had. all then things printed on it. '

-- $!
Q You do not recognize any of these six letters?. A 'No, sir;
Q Even the one I showed you with the picture of the hand end

the1 lie art and the daggers-- -- you do ' not recngnize that one
'

' '''. '.' - .1
'

.

v either? A No, sin
''lr B

Q The letterhead you say was altogether different? A Yes,

'.sir,
-

Q You are sure you saw a letter? A 'I saw it;
Q, That you are sure of ? A It said sane thing about the Bronx.

' "-

-
'

-- .' .'..'' --
;'

.

' '. '.'.'Park in there -
. ,

f:ff . ''"' ' '
:-

-

'

IE Q That is right, the letter y'ou saw said something about

the. Bronx. It didn't say anything about going to the Bronx on

Sunday nighty did it? A I don't remember, because Mr. Mir end!

took the letter off me and when he read it he explained it all
himself.

Q But that night after your brother got through talking to

Mirendi he was to go up to Bronx Park? A I don't know nothing

about it. I,
Q I mean, that was what was said TW

between .Mirendi end your

brother, isn't that right? A 'Yes slr
. Ll'
"9Ms;



MIMPMitiilnirfWiiiniiTT i yraflgaawaraEr
1XMIH MIOm BY MR. XIKfER:

.' .

(J Did you hear his question, what he asked, ydu, did you
HSR:

understand his question? A He said about going to the Bronx Park

that same night. Now, when I say the truth. I dont know

nothing about him, about going to the' Park, I dl diH talk fX

-

about going to the Park. The only thing my brother says, "If t-".fin-

d

9K

out anything
. I will be too glad' to tell." ?3

RE-CRO- SS EXAMINATION BY MR. MED AEIE: .

Q Let me understand! your brother, was going to find, out

who these people were without saying anything about Bronx Park,

is that right? A Yes, because Mr. -- my brother, thought that
"Nit might have been somebody, somebody else.

: - -

&-- : .

Q Oh, your brother was going to find out from certain people

who they we r e? A No, he was going to find out, to see if he-.coul- d

hear something. ,

Q Where washe going to find that out? A Any place he

E&i "' wanted "to go.

11Q He did not mention Bronx Park, did he? A. He was going- - to

go there.
Q . But how was he going to .find out - going o see all

different people, is that right? A Yes', sir;
Q. He was going to ask in different places? A To see if

they knew anything about it ...

, Q Did he mention anybody? A No, sir,
Q Sure? A Yes, Bir;

1 qoisln't he say he would find out about Nick Morelli? 5Af Not
jjjifej WS- - ...'..:' '

.
' : 'I Jl V



Didn't say anything about that? A That name ain't men--

tione'd at all
'

.YQ But he would ask different people, is that right? A No;

But he was going to go to the Bronx Park, the way I heard it.
Q Well, but you heard your brother and Mirendi say A I

heard Mr. Mirendi was to find somebody else, he was" afraid to

go himself, to get'a partner to go with him,

Q But your brother waB to find out who these people were? "

A Yes, sir.
Q And he was going to ask different people if they knew about

it? A Yes; sir. J

bs

Q You don't know who he w"as going to ask? A No.

P A 0 L A GITTO (2237 Second avenue) called as a wit-ne- ss

in behalf of defendant, being duly sworn, testifies as

follows: (Through Official Interpreter Vilamena)

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIEFER:

Q Are' you the uncle of the defendant? A Yes, sir.
Q Does he work for you? A Yes, sir.
Q How long has he worked for you? A More than'ne year. 55
Q Where? A .139th street and Fifth avenue, with the Shubert

Piano comp'aAy.

Q Do youknow Mr." Mirendi, the druggist? A Sure, we come

from the same town

Q Did you go to school with him?
V

' ' fa
t J Objected to. Objection overruled,

'if 1

A, No, sir'; . .



V.r' 0
Q Hare you visited at Kr . Hirendi1 a house and has he visits. i

at your house? A Always, yes, sir,
(The Court now declares a recess till 2- - p. m., first

'sm
Ev --

.. duly admonishing t1he jury in accordance vith law)

After Recess, Trial Resumed. :

SAB I E 0 0 LOR A (351 East 118th street) caLledfrAS a

witness in behalf of defendant, being first duly sworn, tes--

tifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIEFER:

!
.' Q You are the mother-o- f the defendant?. A Yes , sir.

Q Does he live with you? A Yes, sir. .

rf

Q And has he been working right along? A Always.

Q After his arrest on August 5th, . did you have a conversa-tio- u

with the complaining witness, Mr. Mirendi? A Yes, sir.
m,

Q What did you say aid tfi at di d he s ay?
;

,',-- .

...-''-
.

MR. MEDALIE: That is objected to.. The -- only possible

purpose is to impeach the witness Mirendi, who was not

asked concerning any conversation.

THE COURT; i A conversation about what?

MR. KIEEER: '
A conversation about the arrest of the

defendfnt and vhy he had him arrested.

THE COURT: I -- will allow It and I will allow you to

questifoA the witness, if you wish. tfm
A I went to Mr. Mirendi after my son was arrested-'len- d I asked

him,-- ; "What did you have my son arrested for?" And he says to me



M.jff f &13i. W'M7agwSpySfjglTlffiiTrr7A T C . - tEJ&Smi SW?K'yfBCi5llPty?fflllM IBllfiwrjfaglffli
4- - V

- , - ,ar t- - i'Aii4
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Tar upioiG. I reeeive 4.etterV; "I- - know that he die

write these lettera, but I wanted to find out who wrote iheae

lettera."

nBnSR TTYATUTTMATTrkW TIV tfB MTPTIATTT?. -- -

Q Did Mr. Mirendi tell you that he asked your son to go' --j

Shim

j4 and look for the man who wrote the letter? A No, sir. -- i

i -
w

Q Do I understand that Mr. Mirendi wanted your son to f lnd?

out who wrote the letter? A He said that through the medium C

of my son he wants to know who was the one that wrote this &4

letter. 1 " JL,i

Q Did he say he asked your son to find dut? A No, sir.

. RE-DJR- ECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KXEFER:

Q Are you from the same torn in Italy which Mr. Mirendi

came from? A Yes, sir.
Q How long have you kno wi Mr. Mirendi? A A long time.

MR.. KIKPER: Defendant rests. i

EMVITO MIRENDI, the complainant, recalled by the .

t

People in rebuttal, having befcrf ..previously duly sworn, testifies
as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE:
71 --iffLr"

Q After the defendant was arrested di d his mother call on
1 t

t

you? A Yes, sir.
Q How soon after? A Two day a after.

$ Please give the entire conversation? A Two weeks after
.
;.

.a
Jiil3iliBraBM

gti-J$- & defendant was arrested., his mother come to me and says ttf
m-- 7
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Me, "Itaat dftyou have

'

ay son arrested for?" I asa to
' her, Jo

--

. :1 . .

'' --

;

-- .v
. .

.

"Becausese hehe tookitoofcmy money'1: and she says, "Well, he knows

nothing about thlte, Please do not be hard oh him, try to par-

don him." .1 says to her, "Well, if your son telle me who are
'..''' ' "'''''-.-. '".' ' -- '''

the others I will pardon him, I will be easy with him." Arid
Sf

.

3

she says to me, "Well, anyway, my son is under age, he.only ' "J

coulrd get three years", and so forth.'.'' , --
. , ''. ''.

Q Did you ever tell his mother that you only had him ar-

rested because pf a mere suspicion? A Ho, sir. ,

& .

Q, Did you ever tell his mother that you did not believe or
'SB?

were not certain he was one of the persons who attempted to ex-to- rt

money from you? A I never, thought before he came to me that

he was'theone implicated in it, but "when I see that somebo ity"

touched iae on my shoulder then. I believe, that It was him.

Q, On the day before hi s arrest did yo&encjL your son to the

barber shop to call the defendant? A No, sir.
1

Q Did y ou see the defendant at all on the day before his
" ' ' '".'. ':' . . .

'
".. ..'" ' :

::-".-

"'

J,, arrest?
15

I. ..
IK'--

MR. KIEFER: This was all answered yesterday. He

said, I think, that he came there at 4 o'clock on the
r

afternoon of August 4th.
AF 4 THE COURT: objection overruled.

- A I don' t remember.

Q Well, did you see him on the day before?' A I couldn't i

,V 'F .''say. I don't remember.
. tr.y

V ' BY THE COURT:
!

- - iii.'

Did you talk to him 'about this case' tihs .day before? A No.



at any time? A No, sir. '

Q Did you show hi a brother any of the letters that you had

received? A Ho, sir,
'. & DVd you 'ever "ask the defendant to find out for you. who ' v

were the persons who wer attempting to get this money from him?
'

; 58

(A No, sir. 4 i
Q Did. you ever ask this defendant

'
or his bro-he- r tgjAielp

mm
you in any way in connection with ithis case? A No, sir,

Q Did you ever sell cocaine.ine 4cto anybody except upon the pre- -
fltfscrip tion- - of a doctor? A Never.? .Frr"""

Q Did the defendant ever come to you and ask you to find some

means for curing him from the cocaine habit? A No, sir.
' "'.'.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MB. KIEFER:

Q When did you last fill a doctor's prescription for cocaine?

A Quite a long time ago. ;

Q How long ago? A About d year. .

Q You said last night you hadn't any in your store in six
.'".' ' ,'

years, since you have been there?,

-- MR. MEDALIE: He didn't say that.
.

'

.

.

-
.-

-
'

"

.

; ':J
'

:

;
.-

-.-

'

THE COURT:. I think youhave gone far enough into this"".''. '
.. . - .('?' -- 4ixi .

as -

cocaine matter. I allowed, you to introducoHtestimony
J-b-

S

contradicting him, although
.

at.xjp.otly
..

speaking you were
, j (

'i
'V..

hot entitled to that testimony. The only purpose of that fc $
'Ik':'. ''
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rsteX 000&ine testimony la that. It la to Te considered by. the
V

Jury on the question of his credibility. We are n.ot trying1

that issue here,
f a

MR. MEDALIE: People --rest in rebuttal. x
--A

O CASE CLOSED,
I F

MR. KIEPER: Now, if your Honor please a,-- 1 move that
jYP the letters marked Exhibits 1 to 6 be stricken from the

m- -

record upon the ground that the same have not been connected "J

with the defendant. &.

Motion denied. Exception. 4

XI.
--

ft- MR. KIEPER: I also move further to the same effect.

that the Court should decide the question of that as to

whether or not they are properly admitted in evidence.

THE COURT:' There is some testimony for the jury to

consider. The Court is not obliged to pass on the weight

of testimony; -- the jury must find the facts,
pir

MR. KIEPER: "That is not my motion, if your Honor k t H

pleases,
THE COURT: I an denying your motion, and, I am explain--

ing to the jury that vLt is a question for them to decide,

rf' :v i
e whether the defendant haijrbeen connected with the letters

r
"r.

or not,
..

MR. KIEFER: That is the only question in the case, then,
'I take it. .

I THE COURT: Oh, no, th questl&n, In" the case is whether
'-

- i
ft Hf,
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the facts viewed in the light of the lair and the Court
aMHaElPIJ r

will explain it to the Jury, satisfy them beyond a reason-

able
9. 'O- -

ill
dpubt that the defendant attempted to extort money

from this complainant; and if they are not satisfied of

that by all the evidence, beyond treasonable doubt, they
I- ,

must acquit- - hinu If they are s.atisfied with that it is
their duty to say so by a verdict of guilty, . ,

MR. KIEFER: And on your Honor' b own statement, if
'iffthe letters are not in evidence --- '-. a km

THE COURT: They are in evidence.

MR. TEIEFER: I mean to soy, if they are in evidence
if--

and this "defendant is not connected with them, my under-

standing was that the case was to fall,
THE COURT: The jury must decide whether the letters

were ever written, whether they were ever received, or

whether this defendant was concerned in the sending of them,

that' s all.
MR. KIEFER: Yes, sin, that is the case.

THE CO CRT: Yes.

MR. MEDALIE: Pardon me., I di d no t intend to partici-

pate in this, but Mr. "Kiefer seems to be under the impression
--u that that is the sole question in this case.

THE COURT: Ytell, I have already told him that it is
.t T'

not. The question is whether tfne evidence satisfies, the
a

' jury of thetruth' of the charge fri the indictment. . ,H

Nt
, MR.KIEFER: May I have the indictment then. Tj
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1 I. " T )oTHE COURT: The indictment d.oeanot say anything about
r

O-iC- Mt

& letters
f, ' MR, KIEFER: With your Honors permission I will start

ift in In .a moment, and I shall be brief, I will not take

a. great deal of time. i ' ,i
1 jy

, THE COURT: Tou may have allftieetime you wish,
v- -

Counsel now close to' the jury.
j q

The Court now charges the jury as follows.

,m

r

'

-- J? ..
t - Ml '

J

--SJ : I
ki m S

-- r"
V
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(THE PEOPLE va LORENZO COLORA)

' Wem

CHARGE OP THE COURT , MUXQJJEEN , J . I Ov

THE COURT: Gentlemen of the jury, this defendant has

been 4ndicted by the grand jury of the crime of an at--
f

tempt to commit the crime of extortion. The indie tnent

charges .that oh the 5th of August, in this year, 1913, in ..'gJBB

the county of Hew York, the sum of $25 ', lawful money of
o

the United States of America, and of the value of $25 of .

the property, moneys and personal property of one Vito

Mirendi , who had a wife and four children then, and there
i

living, and who was then the proprietor of a certain drug,

shop he feloniously did attempt feloniously to obtain from

the said. Vito Mirendi, with his cogent, which he, the

said Lorenzo Colora then and there feloniously did at-te- mpt

to induce by a wrongful use of fear on the part of

the said Vito Mirendi, by means of then and there

orally and in writing threatening the said Vito Mirendi

to do an unlawful injury to his person and property and to

certain of his relatives and members of his family, that

is "to say, to kill him, the said Vito Mirendi and his

said. wife and children, and to injure and destroy his said

drug store, unless he, the said Vito Mirendi, would pay

to him, the said Lorenzo Colora, the said sum of money,
?- J-j with intent thereby to induce such fear as would on the

part of said Vito Mirendi, so that he being put in fear -

t
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thereby would pay to him, the said Lorenzo Oolora, the

said Bum of money, against the form of the statute in such

case made a provided and against the peace of the people

'.of the State of New York and their dignity.
A t

The indictment is somewhat lengthy, but the substance

of it is very simple; namely
? that this defendant felo-

niously did attempt feloniously to obtain $25 from Vito

Mirendi by the wrongful use of fear, induced by threats
made orally and in writing, to do an unlawful injury to

Vito Mirendi, that is, to kill Mirendi and his wife and

children, and to injure and destroy the drug store, unless'

he paid the said sum of $25.

The indictment charges merely an attempt. That is,
the People claim that Mirendi was not frightened, and

instead of being frightened he refused to pay the money,

and that, therefore, the defendant failed to accomplish
ft ' ta Mthe crime and was not guilty of extortion, but was guilty

of an attempt to commit the crime of extortion.
Mr

You understand that this is not an action? between

Vito Mirendi? and Lorenzo Oolora. It is entitled the

People of the State of New York aAainst Lorenzo Oolora,
'

i V
' ;

and you know by this time that- - that term "People of the

State of New York" is the legal name of all the peopl e

I Si.i; t
ft y living inVthis State; ,

u
the union, or society

n
o r organ! z a-- ijjH
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tion, whatever you wish-t- o call it, comprised of all the

people of every race, and every creed and every color and
. .

, ''.'''' '

every condition living within the borders of this' State.

That great society consisting of ten millions or more of

people have, their own notions of right and wrong, and

they pass laws, as they have the right, and the power) and 1.

the duty to do, to protect the lives and fortunes and lib-

erty of all the people living in this State, and whoever,

..'','violates those laws is guilty of a crime. . y

The people charge that thiB, defendant did the certain
' . "'.'. '

.. ,.",'" - --.','acts set forth in the indictment and that those acts are a

violation of one of the statutes 'made for the protection of'.'"'all of the people of the State and they say that that would

be wrong not to Vito-Mirend- i but to the people of the State

of; New York , a Violation of the at atute, against the peace

of the People of the State of New York.
W

fr i- -The statute referred to is known as Section 850 of
E. ;,-v':y.vO;-

"

---$ .:.

the penal law. Extortion is-th- e obtaining1! of property from

another, with his consent j induced by the wrongful use

of fear, or under color of official: right. This case

is not extortion, but an attempt to commit the crime of

extortion, because Mirendi was no 'frightened. .
y ,.:..- -

5s
$ Section 851 prescribes or sets forth what threatB

may be the basis of thiscriminal charge. It says tttat
I
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fear, such as will constitute extortion may be induced by
fCUl

an oral, or written threat to do an unlawful injury to the
person or property of the individual threatened, or to

--J-any relative of his or to any member of his family.
P

There are other subdivisions, but they do not concern

this case. The threat set forth in the indictment is to

do an injury to his person and to his family, by killing
them and an injury to his property by destroying it, so

it is embraced within 'fche first subdivision.

The People allege that the defendant failed to

create any fear in Mr. Mirendi's mind, that Mr. Mirendi

did not become frightened by the threat and that,- - there- - '

fore, he refused to give up his money through fear; and

the defendant, instead of beirifc-guilt- y of extortion, which

would have been the charge of Mirendi had been actually fright
ened end had paid money through fear was guilty only of an1

attempt to. commit the crime.

An attempt to commit a crime is- - defined in Section

2 of the Penal law, entitled "Definitions: attempt to

commit a crime":

'"An act done, with intent to commit a crime and tend--j

ing but failing to .effect its; commission, is an attempt

to commit that crime." -- k a
.

That is, the People chargeWth&t threats were made,

that these weVo acts done with intent to commit a crime,
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that they tended to effect the cbmmi sol on of the crime,

that they were adapted to the promotion or creation of

fear in the mind of Mirendi, hut that they failed to accom--
'- -

. . ;.- -

' Mplish their object, and therefore, instead of "being extortion' JJV'T
-

.

as I told you before, the crime charged is an attempt to .
,

commit the crime of extortion.

That statute is very plain and the indictment is
very plain. . '

ft

You understand that the defendant is presumed to be

innocent. Under Section 389 of the Code of Criminal P ro--
...'':, '

' '

.
:

'

cedure, the People are obliged to establish his guilt

beyond a reasonable doubt; othervd.se he is entitled to an

acquittal. That section is as. follows,:V

"A defendant in a criminal action Is "presumed to be

innocent until the contrary be proved, and in case of reason

able do.ubt whether his guilt is satisfactorily shown he is Ementitled to an acquittal;"

That is, our law does not say to a defendant, "Here,
'

.

"

'. '-

- , .

you are charg'ed with this crime, you' must prove your inno- -

oence. " The contrary is truet. The law says that this'.' ' 4
;

defendant is to be regarded'as innocent until his guilt is

proved; and the burden of proving it is on the People.,,

who have their lawyer here for that purpose. The People

elect their, own lawyer. He is culled the District Attorney,

and he or his assistants represent,; the People in these
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Tv criminal actions' and it is their duty to present to you y
-'-

-1 '

ifJ--l

evidence on which they claim the defendant1 a guilt. is
based. The defendant has the right to "be confronted with

the witnesses and has. the riht. to give evidence himself,

to be represented by counsel, to cross exfmine witnesses, fto call witnesses and then the whole case is to be sub-mitt- ed

ffeipm

to you; and if you are satisfied that the evi-den- ce

proves his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt then
IV.

you must find, him guilty. If you have a reasonable doubt
' '

.
' - ;.'.. :"'it

of his guilt ybumust acquit him under that seotionSpf the

law. r i!

The Judge must pass on the legal questions that

arise from time to time during .the trial and must see that
i .''. . -

the defendant receives a fair trial, that is, a legal
M

.

'
"

trial; the Judge must also instruct" you in the law.
"-

- ,

Iti,s.. your duty to take the law from the Courtn
without question. Jbu must not question any ruling of the

court. You must keep the law in mind and use it as a
j . .. ' --

. t--

light or a guide to view the evidence., to weigh the evidence,

and then your judgment of the facts is supreme. No one

has the right to find the facts but you.

Facts are proved by the testimony of witnesses or by

exhibits, documents. such as have been introduced in this
-

.
. Ul..

cape; You must take all that evidence and weigh it. If
T"': '

.

'
, '

- ;.:'.' m
't

there is a conflict in the testim'ony you must decide what ,
. '

" ' J.r'ia3"w- -



witnesses, if any, told the truth". That is, you pass on

the credibility of Witnesses. You , saw all the witnesses,
you noted their manner, their appearance, and you will

- jftjjs

form your own estimate of their character. There is no
MWt

rigid,rule to guide you., Jurors must use their own good

sense and good Judgment in "weighing the evidence and de-- .

aiding on the credibility of Witnesses. ' It is proper for
you ta' consider the motive, if any,' which the witnesses

might have had. You may consider what motive witnesses

of the -- people may have had to te'stify falsely against thlB

defendant. Has 'any such motive been shown? That is for

you to say? ' If so, you must conslder.it. So with the

witnesses for the defendant. Has any motive been shown

here? Is any reason in the relationship or in any other

fact or circumstance which would lead any of these wit-

nesses to testify to what was not true to save the de-

fendant? Has the defendant -- told the truth here, or has he

been swayed by the fear of punishment for crime, and was he

thus ready to say what was. not true? You will have to

consider all these things in determining--th- ? credibility of

t the witnesses. .

' VJjfKi
The complaining witness, Mr. Mirendi, was cross

examined at considerable length. "He was asked about his m
-

treatment of his first wife ihltaly, and various other
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things, like selling cocaine. While those questions had
--A

no direct bearing on this case, they. were intended to

affect his credibility. You must pass on his credibility.
It is always proper to show that a witness has been con-

victed of crime, or has committed disgraceful or improper,

acts. The counsel who ask the questions are bound by thd

answers of the witnesses. So that, you must remember

that the mere asking of a question is no proof that a

witness is a person of bad --character. On the contrary,
you must, take his answer as conclusive on that subject -

with the one exception that if you ask a witness if he has' ' 'ts .

not been convicted of crime, then if denies it you can

prove that he has been convicted. There has been no such
'proof here.

It is a violation of . the law to sell cocaine, except

under the circumstances prescribed by statute, and the
complaining witness 8 ays that he has never violated the

statute, and there is no proof here that he ever did. I

allude to this because counsel went to extremes, I think,

in asking the witness questions. It is the duty of counsel

to protect- - the interests of his client andJo use such
.1.

skill and industry in having theVtruth brought outas he
i i

.can, but, as I told you before, tst-e-Jtrut- h is not extab- - ; i

"
35 -- T.

lished by questions only; you must take the questions and
''

..iw
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the answers. So much for the question of credibility, Oil
V The indi cLmeffi t alleges that threats were made Si

Palty'' and; in',writing. If threats were made orally by

this1 defendant that would be sufficient toi sustain this
Indictment; or, if they were made, in writing by this , -- '

' '" ' '
: .'". ".'.' -.-

-;..'

defendant, that would be sufficient. The written threats
"" ' ' v ' ' '

j -

'are alleged to be found in certain letters introduced
before the; Court, and co un'sel for the defendant Insists

m that those letters have, not been brought home to this '

defendant. That is"--
a fact for you' to find. At the" be- -

'-

-. :'' .r'V ; -
'

-- '1 .

ginning of the-cas- e I said that if it was not shown thaW
';' '

H : "'.,. '':. '
' :;

.

' '
'."

'

'
'

the defendant had written the letters or been concerned in

the writing of them, the case would fall, because it wo uld

have been improper to introduce them; but you remember

that Mr.,"iirendi testified that. he. had been called to the

Telephone and' asked why he had not paid th e money; and

also that he was told that some one would call at his shop H'HI j.1

in an hour and tap him on the shoulder, and that he should

give, the money tp the person who made that sign. Then he
' :"' '''''' ' '"'' '

' '

r--
l

'Says this defendant called and tapped him on the shoulder, f

That was why I admitted that telephone conversation, al-

though it was not shown by the People that this defendant .

was the. orie who telephoned. Whether he telephoned or

not is not material. The "rile i.'s that if two or more't I
if m $fcfa:jfe



" persons are concerned in thecommi salon of a crime, all are

equally guilty. One who aids, abets, advises or cotnsels

another in th commission of a crime is guilty, whether he
. '''- -- --..'' '

be actually present or absent Wen the crime itself is
committed. Section 2 of the Penal law defines a principal.'.' .. . .'.'' -- -. ..". :,

as follows: "A person, concerned in the commission of a

crime, whether he directly commits the act constituting .

the offense, or aids or abets. in its commission, and whether

present or absent , and a person who directly or . indirectly'..' . . '.' ..' ,
-

counsels, commands, induces or procures enotHer to commit
.

-- ft.

a Crime is a principal," .f'

'..'- - :

-
.

.

" '

Whether there was one person or ten persons concerned

in this they were all equally guilty and the question for
you to say is whether the proof shows you first, --whether

any crime was committed, whether any .attempt was made to
,

" ' -.''' ..' ..-
-

' " ''.' '','". '
'

' '' .' s

-- create fear in thi mind of Jlr. Mir endi arid get his money p71
by means of threats? Were any threats made to him? Do

'you believe those letters were ever written to him or re-ceiv- ed

by him or that any threat was made over the tele-pho- ne

by any one? If so, if this defendant was con-

cerned in that, connected with it, aiding the person making

the threats or writing the letters, he was equally guilty,

as if it. were . 3hown that he; actually wrote the letters .3

himself' or made the threats, . '"".,
'''." ; ..;'. ! ,.'

Whpn tjia- - or more tier snjx!SS5KJ',,pHTO.QOrainit ,taCjiM TjVl'iiBhMfTnB

SSf ' .MrT -- .viBaawPi
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-.- - I O-C- MItney are eaoh equally guilty end each one is responsible

for all the acts done "by the others to accomplish the

crime, to accomplish the common purpose, and whether he

be present or absent then the act be done, or not. '

You will remember also that Mrs. Mirendi testified. -
5jn

w
"

II

as I recollect, that this deferidant after he. gotthe $11 andf

before his arrest, said, "Now, give me .the letters. w If
you believe that testimony it is fo r you to say whether

that connects him directly with the sending of; these let-te- rs

or shows-knowledg-
e on his part that these, letters

had been 3ent, andthat he was acting in concert with the

persons that sent ihose letters in an at.tempt to create
If

fear in the mind of 'Mr. Mirendi and get his money.

It is for you to find the facts. If you-believe-
, or

have a reasonable, doubt that- - he was asked by Mr. Mirendi

to help him to stop the sending of. letters to him, to

placate these people who
i

were demanding money from him EM
in other words, to act as his friend,- - then acquit him;

but if all the facts and circumstances in the case cannot .

be reconciled with any' reasonable hypothesis ofJihe de-

fendant! s innocence, if everything taken together, all tbje
9

evidence, all the facts as found by you, satisfy yo u be-yo- nd

a reasonable doubt of his guilt, then it is your

"$ duty to say so .

'
A reasonable jioubt is a doubt that is based on reason

slf



arid that reason.- - i a conned ted with the evidence orl m-rma- m oji
evidence in the else. It is not. based on oympathy ori, 4, vjBlgjjjJJJJJJj

prejudice or a desire to avoid doing your duty if It is & :vm
s.,1 :aum

V'V .'i;;g
disagreeable. Those considerations should be absent from TEBL iLHpHpapJI -

' the jury box. The law ..simply asks you to be honest men,

to be true to the. oaths that you took to decide thi s c ase

fairly between the people of the State of New York and

the defendant. The People of the State of New York are 3m

not concerned especially about this complainant or that

defendant, but they want all the people to obey the law,
I

and they also, do not wish any one convicted on insufficient

or improper evidence or by -- improper means. So that, you

' must weigh all theevidence fairly and weigh the testimony

honestly and then each one will know in his heart what

effect is produced on his mind by the testimony. . And, as

I said before, if' tVat effect is a firm conviction to... ,
's ' i',.'. a

.-
-

moral certainty, if you were morally certain that this
Bt.h. -- B

defendant was concerned in the sending o those letters,
Itih

that he knew of them, that he was cognizlgH of them, that

. he ' approved of the plan, that he lent .his aid to it,

that he went1-t- o collect the money pur su ant . to specific

information, that was given to Mr. MiVehdi over the telephone,

tf then he was guilty whether he wrote the letters himself or
'

' '.' ' ' ':45 'f '.-'':- " '.-.-
:

( 'not; but, as I said, if his connection with it was in-- .

iBp- -

nocent, if --. he we brought into the matter' at the request
tMfc

-
. ! . ' "':--
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r.if of .the complairianl then it would bi great wrong to con-- o-- ,

C4
vict hinu

Something has "been said here about circumstantial

evidence. There is 3cme direct evidence here; that is,

of his coming for the money. A number of witnesses tes

tified about that;
'

the detective who was there, and the. :

wife and Mr. Mirendi himself. .' As I understand the de

fendant's testimony-fe-e admits that he received the money,

but he denies Wjje- - got it for any improper purposes and

thre is no statement of any threat made by him at that

time, so that the proof of any participation by him in

the making of the threat depends on circumstantial evidence.
ft1

Sometimes there is a prejudice against circumstantial ,
,

' '

evidence which is' not warranted. Evidence is direct when

Jre communicated by those who
the very .facts in dispute;
have the actual knowledge of ' them by means of their senses.

introduced here, givenThere has been some direct evidence

by witnesses who testified that they saw and heard the

certain things; and there is docu-

mentary

defendant say and do

evidence supplied by .letters as to the making of

the threat, and then there is circumstantial evidence on

rely' this defendant with thewhich the People to connect

making of those threats. Circumstantial evidence hasYbeen

in the case of i:heeqple .defined in the Court of Appeals
? j .m

a

'U sttSt tt si&i M
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against Carlyle Harris as follows: CM1

"All evidence is, in a strict sense , more or leag

circumstantial, whether consisting in facts which permit "M '- -

the inference of guilt, or whether given by eye-witnes- ses

of the occurrences; for the testimony of eye-witnes- ses is,.;
of, course, based upon circumstances more or less distinctly
and directly observed. But, of course, there is a' differ-

ence between evidence consisting in facts .of a peculiar m

nature, and hence giving rise to presumption, and evidence
' r

which is diirect, as consisting in the positive testimony

of eye-witness- es; and .the difference is material according

to the degree of exactness and relevancy, the weight of

the circumstances and the credibility of witnesses, the

mind may be reluctant to conclude upon the issue of guilt
in criminal cases upon evidence which is not direct, .and

yet, when the facts brought out., when taken together, all IS
point in the ona. direction of guilt, and to the exclusion:

of any other hypothesis, there is no substantial reason

for that reluctance.

"Purely circumstantial evidence may be often more

satisfactory and a saer form of evidence, for it must rest
upon facts which, to prove the truth of the charge made,

must collectively tend to establish the guilt of the ao- -
i

cused."
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"A fact has the sense of, and is equivalent to,., a' .fej C4

truth or that which is real. It is in the ingenious co-

mbination of facts that they may be made to deceive or to

express what is not the truth. In the evidence of eye-- 1

witnesses to prove the facts of an occurrence, we are not -

guaranteed against mistake and falsehood, or the distortion

of truth by exaggeration or prejudice; but when we are

dealing with a number of established facts, if , upon
'

.''.'arranging, examining and weighing, them in our mind, we

-
reach only the conclusion of guilt, thje judgment rests

'X '

. IP"'
upon pillars as substantial and sound as though resting

upon the testimony of eye-witnes- ses, .

"The necessity of a resort to circumstantial evidence

in criminal cases' is '
apparent in the nature 'of things, .for

... '. .f :' :- - :' '

a criminal act'''is sought
. -- i

t$ be performed in secrecy , and an

intended evil-do- er usually chooffes his time and an occa-

sion when most favorable to concealment, and sedulously

schemes to render detection Impossible, All that we

-
.

' ..,.:''should require of circumstantial evidence is that there

shall be positive proof of the facts from which the in-

ference of guilt is to be drawn ( and that that inference

is the only one which can reasonably be drawn from these J

facts,1' V V .;

I read this to you because it would not: be fair for - :"t!f
Hjsa

'-fr"- :;i-'S2

.-
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any one to aay "No one is produced here who saw him write
WSl,

fcVinnA loffora unH ' tVioiof no T n Vai awa v.4 ....414... n iHPi

If his oonnection with those letters has been established
"beyond a reasonable doubt, if his knowledge of them, of

m
his consent to their sending," of his acting in concert with

the people who sent them in the effort or endeavor to

create fear in the complainant's mind and get the com--

plainant's money ha3 been established to your satisfaction rsa

beyond a reasonable doubt, then he is guilty. If the evi- - &s

dence fails to impress you to that extent, then he is not
w

guilty. Therefore, you. will find him guilty of the crime

of an attempt to commit the crime of extortion, or not

guilty. ..

MR. KEEFER: I respectfully except to that part of
; f. .

'your Honor's charge about the conspiracy to commit crime.
it .

'

I also ask your Honor to charge that before this jury can.
r

convict this defendant they will have to find from the

evidence that" a demand was madewupon this complaining-witnes- s

for $25,. as charged in the indictment. '

THE COURT: I so charge. No matter what sura was

mentioned in the letters, the indictment mentions the sum
r

of $25, that he demanded $25. The complainant said he

tried to get the $25, but, that' he only gave $11,

THE CO "CRT: (Continuing) What do you wish me to.
-- 3sbs'B
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charge on the question of conspiracy? What' part, do you

object to?

r"TUR. KIEFER: I have no further objection, Judge

THE COIRT: Well, I think what I said there is that
this defendant is indicted as a principal: That everyone-concerne- d

--tiin the commission of the crime,, if more than

one person be concerned in it, is a principal; .and it may

be shown on his trial- - that he acted in concert with others

in the commission of the crime, although no mention of

the others is made in the indictment. Whether he wrote

those letters or riot, if you are satisfied from the evidence

that' he fwas concerned in the writing of them, was cognizant

of the writing of them, approved of than and lent his aid

to the accomplishment of the purpose for' which the letters
were sent,, and' that that purpose was to" instil fear into

the mind of Mr. Mirendi , to get mpnevifromhim, then you

may find him guilty.
.

'

)y
'

'
, EM

B
MR. KIEFER: On the question of materiality I said

I would ask your Honor to charge on that one point, and I

want to make good. If they find that a witness has liedt as to any material point in the testimony, or any material

part of the. testimony, they may disregard his whole tes--

timony.

THE COURT: Well, the word "lie", you know, is not
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It 3 a good, English word, and haa a

specific meaning. If a witness testified untruthfully on

any matter, it might be either intentional or unintention-

al. A wilful misstatement where a witness knows what is
true, yetx deliberately states wha,t is false,- - is a lie;
It is the wilful statement of what is known to he false,
which is meant by the law, not the unconscious .or uninten-

tional statement of what is 'false. The material allegations

are the making of a threat, the nature of the threat, and

the intent. Did he or did he' not make any threats? And

what kind of threats, if Bny, did he make? And what was

the ihtent -- in making those threats. It would be perjury i

for any one to wilfully misstate facts on those points. If
Mr.-- Mirendi never got those letters that he 3ays he did, he

is guilty of perjury and the law is that you may reject

all his testimony, although you are not obliged to. He may

tell the truth on every other point;, that is for you to

say. --Tourney believe any .or all of. any witness! s testimony,

and in selecting the parts which you are to believe you

should be guided-b- y reason and judgment and not by preju-dic- e,

and you should not act hastily. . Ifa witness says

that he knew a man for five years when in fact he has known
:

i

him for' si-year- s, that is the kind of a misstatement thajt

woiuld not constitute perjury, because that question is I

?
i-

-i
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'

fCMI

MnLTKr'j
MR. KIEFER: In that respect I ask you to charge

K F "

that that would affect the credibility of the witness. n
1;.. S

' 4 - m
THE. COURT: I decline to so charge. It might he con-sider- ed 4i

by you on, his credi.bility, but it would not be ,: ;

perjury, it would not juetify you in rejecting all" the

testimony of. the witness; that wouid no t .be. right. The

'' jury has great powers, bu.t you are not to exercise those
- . .'. '.'.powers like a Czar, you are bound by the law; your power

si to be exercised within the law, and the law expects you

to exercise reason and discretion. While $o u have the:

power to scor "I won' t consider such a man1 s testimony",

unless you did that for the reaBons assignedby law, namely,'.,'''"..-- -

that the man had committed per'jury during the trial, it
.would not be right for you to do that, it would be a

crime on your. part. You may believe that a witness made a

misstatement on. one point wilfully and deliberately, and

yet that all his other" statements were true, because they

J . were corroborated by witnesses whom you believed. You

may also consider on the question of credibility o.whether
:V

any witness deliberately. made false statements about matters

not material to the issue. Is that what you wish?

MB. KIEFER: That is all, your-Honor- .

THE COURT: Any requests, Mr. Medalie? ,
v



The jury now retire to deliberate upon a verdict,

and upon their return render a verdict finding' the de-

fendant guilty of the crj.me of attempted extortion. Ml
' f - J

',?
If.-- ' 1

(Defendant remanded for sentence.)
1 1J M i
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Stewart Liddell,
Official Stenographer.
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